Palacký University Olomouc Faculty of Science Department of Cell Biology and Genetics



Cellular basis of host immune response to experimental *Francisella tularensis* infection

Rigorous thesis

Mgr. Klára Kubelková, Ph.D.

Section of Biology Department of Cell Biology and Genetics

Supervisor: prof. RNDr. Zdeněk Dvořák, DrSc., Ph.D.

Olomouc 2015

Univerzita Palackého v Olomouci Přírodovědecká fakulta Katedra buněčné biologie a genetiky



Buněčné základy imunitní odpovědi hostitele na experimentální infekci *Francisella tularensis*

Rigorózní práce

Mgr. Klára Kubelková, Ph.D.

Studijní program: Biologie Studijní obor: Molekulární a buněčná biologie

Vedoucí práce: prof. RNDr. Zdeněk Dvořák, DrSc., Ph.D.

Olomouc 2015

Bibliographical identification:	
Author's first name and surname	Mgr. Klára Kubelková, Ph.D.
Title	Cellular basis of host immune response to
	experimental Francisella tularensis infection
Type of thesis	Rigorous thesis
Department	Cell Biology and Genetics
Supervisor	prof. RNDr. Zdeněk Dvořák, DrSc., Ph.D.
The year of presentation	2015
Abstract	

Francisella tularensis (F. tularensis) is a highly virulent intracellular pathogen that causes tularemia, an infection which can manifest itself in various forms depending on the route of inoculation. Like other intracellular pathogens, F. tularensis infection is controlled primarily by T cells, which can provide protective immunity. In addition, an important role of B lymphocytes in early stages of infection has previously been uncovered. There is evidence that B cells as well as antibodies are necessary for a fully effective immune response to primary and secondary F. tularensis infections in mice. This thesis is focused on investigating an F. tularensis-B cell interaction model which can provide more information about direct contact between pathogens and B cells, the final fate of both the microbe and the host cell, and the role of cytokines resp. circulating antibodies in protecting against experimental infection by Francisella spp. The data presented here entitle us to believe that B cells have all the attributes necessary to participate actively in the induction and regulation of adaptive immune responses during early stages of F. tularensis infection. Moreover, the important role of circulating antibodies and selected cytokines in protecting against Francisellae in both immunocompetent as well as immunocompromised individuals was elucidated using a murine infection model. Understanding the role of the B cells and humoral part of the immune system in cooperation with T cell-mediated immunity is important for the effort to develop effective and safe prophylactic procedures for protecting against infection with F. tularensis strains, and it can help to elucidate the basic issues concerning expression of protective immunity against intracellular bacterial pathogens generally.

Keywords	Francisella tularensis; B cells; cell biology
Number of pages	68
Number of appendices	3
Language	English

Bibliografická identifikace:

Jméno a příjmení autora Název práce

Typ práce Pracoviště Vedoucí práce Rok obhajoby práce Abstrakt Mgr. Klára Kubelková, Ph.D. Buněčné základy imunitní odpovědi hostitele na experimentální infekci *Francisella tularensis* Rigorózní práce Katedra buněčné biologie a genetiky prof. RNDr. Zdeněk Dvořák, DrSc., Ph.D. 2015

Francisella tularensis (F. tularensis) je vysoce virulentní intracelulární pathogen způsobující onemocnění zvané tularemia. Manifestace tohoto onemocnění se vyskytuje v různých formách v závislosti na místě infekce. Infekce F. tularensis je, stejně jako u dalších intracelulárních organizmů, primárně kontrolována T lymfocyty, které poskytují protektivní imunitu. Avšak role B lymfocytů v raných fázích infekce dosud nebyla plně objasněna. Nicméně je známo, že B lymfocyty, spolu s protilátkami, poskytují plný protektivní efekt proti primární a také sekundární infekci F. tularensis v myším modelu. Tato rigorózní práce je zaměřena na studium vzájemné přímé interakce F. tularensis s B lymfocyty, na studium konečného osudu mikroba a hostitelské buňky a také na roli vybraných cytokinů a protilátek v protektivní imunitní odpovědi proti Francisella spp. Výsledky prezentované v této práci nás opravňují k domněnce, že B lymfocyty jsou schopné se aktivně podílet na indukci a regulaci adaptivní imunitní odpovědi v časných fázích infekce F. tularensis. Navíc byla osvětlena role cirkulujících protilátek a vybraných cytokinů jak u imunokompetentních tak u imunosuprimovaných jedinců v rámci myšího infekčního modelu. Pochopení role B lymfocytů a protilátek v kooperaci s T-lymfocyty zprostředkovanou imunitou vede k efektivním a bezpečným preventivním postupům při ochraně proti infekci F. tularensis. Navíc lze získané výsledky všeobecně začlenit do objasnění základních otázek týkajících se protektivní imunitní odpovědi proti intracelulárním patogenům.

Klíčová slova

Počet stran Počet příloh Jazyk *Francisella tularensis*; B lymfocyty; buněčná biologie 68 3 angličtina

Prohlašuji:

Tuto práci jsem vypracovala samostatně. Veškeré literární prameny a informace, které jsem v práci využila, jsou uvedeny v seznamu použité literatury.

V Olomouci dne 4. května 2015

SUMMARY

Francisella tularensis (F. tularensis) is a highly virulent intracellular pathogen that causes tularemia, an infection which can manifest itself in various forms depending on the route of inoculation. Like other intracellular pathogens, *F. tularensis* infection is controlled primarily by T cells, which can provide protective immunity. In addition, an important role of B lymphocytes in early stages of infection has previously been uncovered. There is evidence that B cells as well as antibodies are necessary for a fully effective immune response to primary and secondary *F. tularensis* infections in mice.

This thesis is focused on investigating an *F. tularensis*–B cell interaction model which can provide more information about direct contact between pathogens and B cells, the final fate of both the microbe and the host cell, and the role of cytokines resp. circulating antibodies in protecting against experimental infection by *Francisella* spp. The data presented here entitle us to believe that B cells have all the attributes necessary to participate actively in the induction and regulation of adaptive immune responses during early stages of *F. tularensis* infection. Moreover, the important role of circulating antibodies and selected cytokines in protecting against *Francisellae* in both immunocompetent as well as immunocompromised individuals was elucidated using a murine infection model.

Understanding the role of the B cells and humoral part of the immune system in cooperation with T cell-mediated immunity is important for the effort to develop effective and safe prophylactic procedures for protecting against infection with *F. tularensis* strains, and it can help to elucidate the basic issues concerning expression of protective immunity against intracellular bacterial pathogens generally.

SOUHRN

Francisella tularensis (*F. tularensis*) je vysoce virulentní intracelulární pathogen způsobující onemocnění zvané tularemia. Manifestace tohoto onemocnění se vyskytuje v různých formách v závislosti na místě infekce. Infekce *F. tularensis* je, stejně jako u dalších intracelulárních organizmů, primárně kontrolována T lymfocyty, které poskytují protektivní imunitu. Avšak role B lymfocytů v raných fázích infekce dosud nebyla plně objasněna. Nicméně je známo, že B lymfocyty, spolu s protilátkami, poskytují plný protektivní efekt proti primární a také sekundární infekci *F. tularensis* v myším modelu.

Tato rigorózní práce je zaměřena na studium vzájemné přímé interakce *F*. *tularensis* s B lymfocyty, na studium konečného osudu mikroba a hostitelské buňky a také na roli vybraných cytokinů a protilátek v protektivní imunitní odpovědi proti *Francisella* spp. Výsledky prezentované v této práci nás opravňují k domněnce, že B lymfocyty jsou schopné se aktivně podílet na indukci a regulaci adaptivní imunitní odpovědi v časných fázích infekce *F. tularensis*. Navíc byla osvětlena role cirkulujících protilátek a vybraných cytokinů jak u imunokompetentních tak u imunosuprimovaných jedinců v rámci myšího infekčního modelu.

Pochopení role B lymfocytů a protilátek v kooperaci s T-lymfocyty zprostředkovanou imunitou vede k efektivním a bezpečným preventivním postupům při ochraně proti infekci *F. tularensis*. Navíc lze získané výsledky všeobecně začlenit do objasnění základních otázek týkajících se protektivní imunitní odpovědi proti intracelulárním patogenům.

I would like to thank to my supervisor, prof. RNDr. Zdeněk Dvořák, DrSc., Ph.D., for his guidance and support during the rigorous thesis preparation.

I would also like to express the deepest appreciation to my colleague and friend, prof. Aleš Macela for his endless support, advices, critical remarks and faith in my person.

Final support was provided by Grant No. P302-11-1631 from the Czech Science Foundation and by Long-term Organization Development Plan 1011 from the Ministry of Defense, Czech Republic. I would never have been able to finish this thesis without the guidance of help from friends and support from my family...

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAPERS IN THIS THESIS	11
1 INTRODUCTION	12
2 THEORETICAL	13
2.1. Lessons from history	13
2.2 The etiological agent – Francisella tularensis	14
2.3 Tularemia epidemiology	15
2.4 Disease manifestation	16
2.5 Prophylaxis and treatment	19
2.6 F. tularensis – an intracellular pathogen	20
2.7 Host immune response	23
2.7.1 Basic elements of innate and adaptive immune responses to Francisella	24
2.7.2 T cell-mediated immune response to F. tularensis	24
2.7.3 B cell-mediated immune response to F. tularensis	26
3 AIMS OF THESIS	30
4 OVERVIEW OF METHODOLOGICAL APPROACHES	31
5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	33
5.1 Activation of apoptotic processes in human cell (Paper I.)	33
5.2 Significant role of murine B cells in the course of <i>F. tularensis</i> infection (Paper	· II.) 38
5.3. The role of humoral response is important for development of protective immu	nity
against F. tularensis infection (Paper III)	43
6 CONCLUSION	46
7 REFERENCES	47
8 LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOL	59
9 OUTPUTS	61
Paper I	62
Paper II.	63
Paper III	64
OTHER PUBLICATIONS AND OUTPUTS	65

PAPERS IN THIS THESIS

Paper I.

Zivna L, Krocova Z, Hartlova A, **Kubelkova K**, Zakova J, Rudolf E, Hrstka R, Macela A, Stulik J: Activation of B cell apoptic pathways in the course of *Francisella tularensis* infection. Microbial Pathogenesis, 2010, 49, 226 – 236.

Paper II.

Plzakova L^{*}, **Kubelkova K**^{*}, Krocova Z, Zarybnicka L, Sinkorova Z, Macela A: B cell subsets are activated and produce cytokines during early phases of *Francisella tularensis* LVS infection. Microbial Pathogenesis, 2014, 75, 49 – 58.

Paper III.

Kubelkova K, Krocova Z, Balonova L, Pejchal J, Stulik J, Macela A: Specific antibodies protect gamma-irradiated mice against *Francisella tularensis* infection. Microbial Pathogenesis, 2012, 53, 259 – 268.

* these authors contributed equally to the work

1 INTRODUCTION

Protective immune responses against facultative intracellular bacterial pathogens require the concerted action of activated immunocompetent cells. In this respect, the dominant role has been attributed to activated T lymphocyte subpopulations and/or activated macrophages. Recently, it has become clear that the B cell subsets are the equivalent partner of T cells during the induction, regulation and expression phases of immune response against intracellular bacteria. They express their functions through both antibody-dependent and antibody-independent mechanisms. B cells are able to internalize bacteria through the B cell receptor (BCR), extract antigens from non-internalizable particles, and, due to the cross-presentation process, activate CD4⁺ as well as CD8⁺T cells. Through the dichotomy of the recognition of bacterial targets by the BCR or a Toll-like receptor (TLR) and by the production of sets of cytokines, B cells regulate the expression of individual branches of acquired immune response. B cells also influence the development of T cell memory. Further, B cells play a dominant role as antibodyproducing cells in influencing the course and final resolution of intracellular bacterial infections. Direct interaction of B cell subpopulations with bacteria results in autonomous B cell differentiation and rapid secretion of bacterium-specific antibodies that influence the pathogen's distribution to vital organs. Moreover, specific antibodies against intracellular bacteria have been demonstrated to have protective potential. On the other hand, intracellular bacteria survive intracellularly in B cells mainly in a non-replicative state and, as such, constitute a source of systemic infection and/or reservoir for reinfection. B cells thus constitute one of the cell types responsible for the final fate of the interaction of intracellular bacterial pathogens with their hosts. This thesis summarizes studies that have been conducted on a Francisella tularensis infection model and that document both the beneficial as well as the relatively deleterious role B cells play in the course of intracellular bacterial infections.

2 THEORETICAL

2.1. Lessons from history

The history of research on tularemia as well as of its causative agent's taxonomic classification goes back more than 100 years. The origin of the tularemia story is generally dated to the year 1911, when George W. McCoy, Director of the US Public Health Service Plague Laboratory, undertook bacteriological investigations of bubonic plague in ground squirrels and reported a plague-like disease of rodents in California (McCoy 1911). In parallel, physician R. A. Pearse reported six cases of fever caused by the bites of deerflies and named this "deerfly fever" (Pearse 1911). One year later, McCoy and Chapin successfully isolated a novel organism, which was named Bacterium tularense (B. tularense). The site of the original discovery was Tulare County in central California, (McCoy and Chapin 1912). Edward Francis studied deerfly fever in Utah during the 1920s. Because of the pathological changes of the disease observed in animals and humans and due to isolation of the bacterium from human blood, he renamed the disease tularemia (Francis 1925). Almost concurrently, Hachiro Ohara was studying wild hare disease (Yatobyo) in Japan and recognized that disease's similarity to tularemia. His observation was confirmed by Francis, who isolated B. tularense from specimens he received from Ohara (Ohara 1925). Soon thereafter, tularemia was recognized in the USSR, Norway, Canada, Sweden, and Austria (Suvarov et al. 1928; Zarkai 1930; Francis 1937). Thus, the names deerfly fever, rabbit fever, Pahvant Valley plague, lemming fever, Yato-byo, Ohara's disease, water-rat trapper's disease, hare meat poisoning, and probably also other historical names are synonyms for tularemia.

From a historical point of view, tularemia was probably first described on September 19, 1907. At the Annual Meeting of the Medical Library Association, Portland, Oregon, on June 25, 1940, Dr. William Levin cited a letter of Dr. Ancil Martin which had been sent to F. G. Novy at the University of Michigan. In this letter, Martin had stated that he had under observation and treatment five cases of an infection caused by the skinning and dressing of wild rabbits (Levin 1940). For the sake of completeness, it should be noted that there is a hypothesis that the biblical plague of the Philistines and a virulent epidemic, similar to the bubonic plague or typhus, in Ancient Egypt (around 1715 BC) may have been tularemia (Trevisanato 2004, 2007).

The original name and taxonomy of the etiological agent of tularemia changed several times over the years. In the literature can be found the name *Pasteurella tularensis* and in older literature the name *Brucella tularensis* (due to serological cross-reactions with the *Brucella* sp. antigens). Finally, to honor the achievements of Edward Francis in the field of tularemia research, the bacterium was renamed to *Francisella tularensis* (*F. tularensis*) (Dorofiev 1947; Rockwood 1983).

2.2 The etiological agent – Francisella tularensis

F. tularensis is a highly virulent, non-sporulating, pleomorphic, facultative intracellular, Gram-negative coccobacillus that is capable of causing the zoonotic disease tularemia in a large number of mammals. *F. tularensis* strains grow slowly in CO_2 supplemented air and almost all strains of this fastidious organism have specific requirements for iron and cysteine or cystine. After 24 h of incubation, small, white and gray, smooth or shiny-surfaced colonies can be seen on an appropriate solid media.

Francisella is the only genus within the family *Francisellaceae* of the γ -subclass of Proteobacteria (McLendon et al. 2006). The Francisellaceae family is distinguished by a set of phenotypic characteristics unique for their morphology, capability for degrading only a limited number of carbohydrates, growth requirement for cysteine, and unique fatty acid composition (Tärnvik and Berglund 2003). The taxonomy of the genus Francisella is still subject to debate. A recent study of the phylogenetic relationships of all known Francisella species divided the genus Francisella into two genetic clades. One is represented by F. tularensis, F. novicida, F. hispaniensis, and the close neighbor Wolbachia persica; the second by F. philomiragia and the fish pathogen F. noatunensis (Sjödin et al. 2012). The majority of publications divide the species F. tularensis into four closely related subspecies that are highly conserved in their genomic content but differ in their virulence, biochemistry, and epidemiology: F. tularensis subsp. tularensis (also known as Type A), which is endemic in North America and known in Europe in only one isolate that possibly represents a laboratory escape (Gurycova 1998); F. tularensis subsp. holarctica (also known as Type B), widespread throughout the Northern Hemisphere; F. tularensis subsp. mediasiatica, endemic in Central Asia; and F. tularensis subsp. novicida. Most human cases of tularemia are caused by the F. tularensis subsp. tularensis Type A and F. tularensis subsp. holarctica Type B strains. Type A strains are now newly divided into 3

genotypes (clades) A1a, A1b, and A2, all of which have been shown to be epidemiologically important (Staples et al. 2006; Kugeler et al. 2009). Strains of *F. tularensis* subsp. *tularensis* are considered the most virulent for humans, with an infectious dose of less than 10 colony forming units (CFU). The lethality of Type A strains is up to 24% in untreated cases depending on the Type A genotype (Kugeler et al. 2009). *F. tularensis* subsp. *holarctica* also causes debilitating diseases, albeit with a milder course. The fatality rate barely reaches 1%. *F. tularensis* subsp. *mediasiatica* rarely causes human illness and is less virulent than *F. tularensis* subsp. *holarctica* (Ol'sufev and Meshcheriakova 1981). *F. tularensis* subsp. *novicida* is an opportunistic pathogen in humans, and it is significantly less pathogenic than are the other subspecies. It can cause the disease mainly in immunocompromised people (Tärnvik 1989). Fully virulent strains must be handled in labs under containment meeting the requirements of Biosafety Level 3 (Titball et al. 2007). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (USA) classify *F. tularensis* as a Category A bioterrorism agent (<u>http://emergency.cdc.gov/agent/agentlist-category.asp</u>).

2.3 Tularemia epidemiology

The name tularemia has been applied to all manifestations of infection caused by the *F. tularensis* bacterium (Evans 1985). While it is generally known that there are zones where tularemia has been occurring for decades, the overall ecology of *F. tularensis* is not well understood, and particularly the transmission cycle, ecological requirements of the different subspecies, and true natural reservoir hosts (Mörner 1992; Gyuranecz et al. 2011). More than 250 species of mammals, birds, amphibians, invertebrates, and protozoans have already been identified as hosts for *F. tularensis*, and that fact complicates understanding the transmission cycle. In general, human cases of tularemia are most often associated with exposure to lagomorphs, rodents, and blood-feeding arthropods; inhalation of contaminated dust particles; or drinking of contaminated water. Two cycles, terrestrial and aquatic, have been described for the disease caused by *F. tularensis*. Hares and rabbits are prototypical hosts for the terrestrial cycle while ticks, mites, and biting flies represent arthropod vectors. Beavers, muskrats, and voles are mammalian hosts that can contaminate water within the aquatic cycle (Bell and Stewart 1975; Bell and Stewart 1983]. The aquatic cycle is associated with rivers, streams, and flooded landscapes, and it can be promoted by the persistence of the bacterium within protozoans (Parker et al. 1951; Lysy et al. 1979; Mörner 1992; Abd et al. 2003).

Outbreaks of tularemia in humans are typically associated with outbreaks of tularemia in animal populations. Thus, rural populations, and especially those individuals who spend some time in endemic areas, such as farmers, hunters, forest workers, and tourists, are most at risk of tularemia (Harris 1956; Levesque et al. 1995; Levesque et al. 2007). For example, two outbreaks of pneumonic tularemia at Martha's Vineyard, Massachusetts were associated with the use of lawn mowers or brush cutters while people were working around the houses (Teutsch et al. 1979; Feldman et al. 2001). In northern European countries, such as Sweden, Finland, and the northern part of Russia, mosquitoes are the dominant vector transmitting tularemia to humans (Tärnvik et al. 2004; Petersen et al. 2009). By contrast, mosquitoes in Central Europe probably do not carry F. tularensis in natural foci of tularemia; contact with infected animals, ingestion of contaminated food or water, along with possible infection caused by tick vectors are the dominant modes of transmission in this region (Libich 1981; Hubalek et al. 1997). The seasonality of reported tularemia cases corresponds well with these transmission modes. The spread of the pathogen F. tularensis and frequency of tularemia infection may be underestimated because many infections of humans with F. tularensis appear to be asymptomatic.

2.4 Disease manifestation

The majority of information on tularemia symptoms in animals has originated from laboratory experiments using mice, rabbits, guinea pigs, and monkeys as animal models of natural infection. In these cases, however, most studies have utilized the *F. tularensis* Live Vaccine Strain or *F. novicida*, which in murine models induce symptoms similar to the infection in humans caused by wild virulent strains (Conlan et al. 2011). The clinical manifestations of tularemia depend on the route of infection and the susceptibility of any particular animal species to tularemia.

Similarly to other bacterial zoonoses, tularemia is transmitted to humans by direct contact with infected animals, tissues or fluids from infectious animals or by bites from infected arthropod vectors. Inhalation of aerosol or ingestion of contaminated food and water are other sources of infection. Thus, the gateways for *F. tularensis* into the body

include the skin, mucosal membranes, lungs, and gastrointestinal tract. In general, infection is characterized by common symptoms including fever, sweats, headache, body ache, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. Pulse–temperature dissociation is seen in less than half of patients. The incubation time, which delineates the period of delay between infection and the outbreak of symptoms, varies around 6 days. Moreover, the delay between the onset of symptoms and the seeking of treatment ranges around 7 days (Koskela and Herva 1980; Koskela and Salminen 1985). Disease onset is abrupt, usually within 3 to 5 days, but it can be as rapid as 1 day or as prolonged as 14 days post-exposure.

A study by Dr. Francis had delineated four major clinical manifestations of tularemia (ulceroglandular, glandular, oculoglandular, and typhoidal) while additional manifestations were observed to include oropharyngeal, gastrointestinal, pneumonic, and other rare forms (Francis 1928). The most common form of human tularemia is the ulceroglandular form that results from contact with infectious material or from vector-borne transmission.

To summarize, the clinical forms of tularemia can be divided into various syndromes that complicate diagnosis. The incubation period is usually 3 to 5 days after inoculation. Clinical manifestation of illness begins with the rapid onset of fever, chills, headache, malaise, fatigue, and myalgia. Some patients suffer from coughing, nausea, and vomiting. Other findings may include skin ulcers, sore throat, pleural effusion, primary or secondary pneumonia, acute respiratory distress syndrome, and pericarditis. General signs and symptoms of different clinical types of tularemia are included in Table I.

	Characteristics	Means of spread	Portal of entry
Ulceroglandular	Skin papule followed by	Vector-borne	Skin
type	persistent ulcer	transmission	
	Enlargement of regional lymph	Direct contact	
	node	Indirect contact	
	Chronic granulomatous	(tools)	
	inflammation		
	Fever		
Glandular	Tender lymphadenopathy	Vector-borne	Unknown
type	(usually axillary/epitrochlear)	transmission	(probably skin)
	Absence of visible skin lesions	Direct contact	
	Fever	Indirect contact	
		(tools)	
Oropharyngeal	Severe pharyngitis	Ingest of contamined	Oropharyngeal
type	Tonsillitis	food/water	mucosa
	Regional neck lymphadentis		
	Cervical adenitis		
	Persistent fever		
Oculoglandular	Unilateral conjunctivis	Touch eye with	Conjunctiva
type	Swelling of eyelids	contamined fingers	-
	Photophobia	Infective dust	
	Mucopurulent discharge		
	Enlargement of regional lymph		
	node		
	Parinaud's syndrome		
Typhoidal	Myalgia	Unknown	Oropharyngeal
type	Headache	(probably oral/	mucosa
	Fever of unknown origin	respiratory)	Respiratory tract
	Skin or mucous membrane		
	lesions		
	Lymph node enlargement		
Pneumonic	Sudden onset of symptoms	Inhaling	Respiratory tract
/respiratory	Pneumonia	contaminated dust	
Туре А	Bronchopneumonia	Laboratory-acquired	
	Chest pain	infection	
	Dry or productive cough		
	Dyspnoea		
	Fever		
	Profuse sweating		
	Mental deterioration		
	Septicemia		
	Erythema nodosum	~	_ .
Pneumonic	Hilar adenopathy	Inhaling	Respiratory tract
/respiratory	Pneumonic infiltration	contaminated dust	
Туре В	Erythema nodosum	Laboratory-acquired	
	Pneumonia (rarely)	intection	

Table I: Common clinical signs and manifestation of various type of tularemia

2.5 Prophylaxis and treatment

The first attempts at constructing a vaccine based on attenuated bacteria were made in the 1930s by Francis, Kudo, and Gotschlich, but without satisfactory results. Later, Elbert and Gaiskii prepared other attenuated strains, among which especially strains 155 and 15 were extensively tested and recommended for the preparation of a commercially safe and effective vaccine (Elbert and Gaiski 1945; Elbert 1946; Tigertt 1962). In 1956, a vial of the Soviet commercial live vaccine was transferred from the Gamaleia Institute in Moscow to the US Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases at Fort Detrick, Maryland. The isolation of one selected F. tularensis colony from this ampoule gave rise to the F. tularensis Live Vaccine Strain (LVS). After protective efficacy testing on animal models, LVS was tested for safety and efficacy in humans and used for vaccination of atrisk personnel (Eigelsbach and Downs 1961; Saslaw et al. 1961a, 1961b). To complete the information on the prophylaxis of tularemia, mention should be made of attempts at passive transfer of immunity by immune sera or antibodies against F. tularensis. Classical experiments on animals have already demonstrated that injection of immune serum before virulent challenge only prolongs survival but cannot ensure protection against even low doses of virulent bacteria (Francis and Felton 1942; Bell and Kahn 1945). These results nevertheless clearly demonstrated that immune sera contain protective antibodies and their protective effect correlated well with precipitating antibody content (Foshay et al. 1947). Moreover, antibodies also can be used in therapeutic mode, especially when administered early after infection (Kirimanjeswara et al. 2007; Savitt et al. 2009).

Since the description of *Francisella* spp. as an emerging pathogen in 2001, many molecular tools for diagnosis have been developed to rapidly confirm tularemia-positive patients and type the strain in order to recommend therapeutic treatment and predict patient prognosis. Tularemia Type A, as well as the less virulent Type B, is often associated with various complications that involve substantial periods of convalescence. Due to tularemia's long incubation period, it is imperative to treat patients immediately after the onset of symptoms. Nevertheless, only a few of the antibiotics currently at our disposal are effective against tularemia and for this reason we need new therapeutic strategies for tularemia, including to develop new antibiotics or new ways of using existing antibiotics (summarized in Maurin 2014). The choice of antibiotic type for treating tularemia is

dependent on the clinical manifestation of the illness, the subspecies of the infectious agent, and the immune status of the host.

In addition to testing new antibiotics, attempts are being made to use chemotherapy and immunotherapy against tularemia. The specific enzymes that F. tularensis needs for its survival and proliferation are the targets of enzyme inhibitors in the form of proteins or small molecules. These include, for example, recombinant cystatin 9 (Eaves-Pyles et al. 2013) and small compounds prepared by ligand- and structure-based drug design (Chaudhury et al. 2013). Modestly promising therapies against tularemia today consist in utilizing the immunosuppressive and/or immunomodulatory effects of antimicrobial peptides, such as human cathelicidin LL-37 peptide, novel synthetic hybrids designed from cecropin A, magainin II and granulysin peptides, or specific fly antimicrobial peptides such as attacin, cecropin, drosocin and drosomycin from Drosophila melanogaster (Endsley et al. 2009; Fox et al. 2012; Flick-Smith et al. 2013; Vonkavaara et al. 2013). These positively charged antimicrobial peptides are capable of disrupting the negatively charged bacterial membrane and limiting the proliferation of microbes. Such antimicrobial peptides and enzyme inhibitors are effective in cell-based in vitro and in animal in vivo systems. They display significant growth inhibition of F. tularensis or reduce organ bacterial burden, and they improve survival of experimental mice. In the future, alternatives to antibiotic therapy may be offered in cases of natural or intentionally generated F. tularensis (multi)resistance.

2.6 F. tularensis – an intracellular pathogen

To establish infection, *F. tularensis*, as an intracellular pathogen, needs to enter cells, find a target place to survive, and then grow inside host cells. Its ability to survive and multiply intracellularly has been well described in both professional and nonprofessional phagocytes via *in vitro* and *in vivo* models (Anthony et al. 1991; Conlan and North 1992; Pechous et al. 2009). The molecular mechanisms *F. tularensis* uses to mediate its uptake into the host cell are mostly unknown, however. In general, serum-opsonized *F. tularensis* can enter host cells using a process dependent on the presence of complement factor C3 in the serum and complement receptors on the surface of the host cell, which are engaged in forming pseudopod loops in the host cell's surface membrane (Clemens et al. 2005). Under this condition, Class A scavenger receptors, lung surfactant

protein A, nucleolin, as well as the Fc γ receptors are involved, to various degrees, in mammalian cells' internalization of *F. tularensis* (Balagopal et al. 2006; Pierini 2006; Barel et al. 2008). In the non-opsonic uptake of *F. tularensis* by macrophages, a significant role is played by the mannose receptor (Balagopal et al. 2006) and possibly other cell surface receptors that have not yet been defined. The mode of entry may influence the fate of *Francisella* inside the host cell by triggering different signaling pathways that control the expression of intracellular defense mechanisms and, in parallel, influence the survival of intracellularly localized bacteria (Geier and Celli 2011).

Inside the host cell (and mainly macrophages and dendritic cells have been studied), F. tularensis resides in an initial vacuolar compartment along the general endocytic degradative pathway, recently termed the Francisella-containing phagosome (FCP). The FCP sequentially acquires early and late endosomal markers, such as EEA-1, Lamp-1, and Rab-7, but not the marker cathepsin D, which is an indicator of phagosomelysosome fusion (Clemens et al. 2004; Santic et al. 2005). The next step in intracellular trafficking of the bacterium consists in active FCP membrane disruption followed by escape into the cytosol, where it then replicates (Golovlion et al. 2003; Clemens et al. 2004; Santic et al. 2005). There is still debate as to whether the FCP is acidified before disruption of the membrane by F. tularensis. There are experimental data demonstrating progressive acidification of the vacuole by acquiring vacuolar ATPase before phagosomal disruption (Chong et al. 2008; Santic et al. 2008) as well as contradictory data that exclude FCP acidification (Clemens et al. 2004; Bönquist et al. 2008; Rajaram et al. 2009). Whether this discrepancy is due to different experimental conditions or different infectious agents is not yet clear. Phagosomal escape is followed by extensive cytosolic replication and, finally, the programmed cell death of the host macrophage (Lai et al. 2001; Hrstka et al. 2005). During later intervals of infection, some F. tularensis have been observed in the multi-membrane vacuolar compartment of the endocytic pathway that has the characteristics of an autophagosome (Checroun et al. 2006; Hrstka et al. 2007). Still unclear, however, are why F. tularensis reenters the membranous compartment and the consequences for further dissemination of infection and induction of immune response (see Fig. 1 for the scheme of the entire process).

Also still debated is whether the reentering of *Francisellae* into a multilamellar compartment is induced by *Francisella* itself or is the result of a defense mechanism based on eliminating the intracellular threat. During its history, *F. tularensis* has developed

molecular tools to avoid the intracellular defense mechanisms of the host cell. More than 300 genes considered to be virulence factors have been identified to date. Among these are genes involved in adhesion to host cells; genes associated with capsule biosynthesis contributing to serum resistance; and genes, including those from the Francisella pathogenicity island coding probably of the type VI secretion system, enabling "neutralization" of intraphagosomal milieu, escape into the cytosol, and proliferation inside the host cell (Nano et al. 2004; Bakshi et al. 2006; Lindgren et al. 2007; Charkaborty et al. 2008; Mohapatra et al. 2008; Schulert et al. 2009; Dai et al. 2010; Ma et al. 2014). F. *tularensis* is also able to delay cell death to increase its survival and replication through activating Ras by the SOS2/GrB2/PKCα/PKCβI quaternary complex, which stimulates cell survival through downregulation of caspase-3 activation (Al-Khodor et al. 2010). Moreover, Francisella spp. actively manipulate the timing of autophagy onset, interferon signaling, Toll-like receptor signaling, and phagocytosis (Butchar et al. 2008; Cremer et al. 2009), thus manipulating one of the early cell defense mechanisms against infection (Deretic and Levine 2009). Equally important for Francisella is its adaptation to the nutritional limitations inside a host cell (Barel and Charbit 2013).

Despite numerous studies dedicated to virulence factors, *F. tularensis* virulence in its complexity has not yet been sufficiently elucidated (Jones et al. 2014). Altogether, the ability of intracellular pathogens to evade clearance inside host cells and disseminate to other areas of the body is essential to the pathogen's virulence and pathogenicity. It remains unclear, however, as to how *Francisella* spp. actually kills their hosts. Deactivations of immune cells, uncontrolled cytokine response, and toxin production have all been implicated as mechanisms by which bacterial pathogens induce death during systemic infection.

22



Fig. 1: Intracellular trafficking of F. tularensis after uptake by various macrophage receptors: Francisella uses multiple mechanisms to evade host defense. Infection eventually leads to apoptosis of the infected cells. See text for more details.

2.7 Host immune response

Immunity against *F. tularensis* has been studied for decades, but unanswered questions remain. Some kinds of bacteria have evolved mechanisms for survival inside host cells, and *Francisella* spp. are among these. The immune system is classically divided into innate and adaptive branches, and the innate branch is the most evolutionarily conserved part of the host defense. A substantial part of innate responses is based on such phagocytic cells as macrophages and neutrophils that represent the cellular component while the complement system constitutes the most important humoral component of the innate system. Only macrophages are considered to be primary host cells for *F. tularensis*, but several other cell types within the organism, such as neutrophils, dendritic cells, hepatocytes, and alveolar epithelial cells, also serve as hosts for *Francisella* spp. (Clemens and Horowitz 2007; Celli and Zahrt 2013).

2.7.1 Basic elements of innate and adaptive immune responses to Francisella

The initial interaction of *Francisella* with host cells, such as macrophages, dendritic cells, epithelial cells, and endothelial cells, stimulates production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in a manner that is dependent upon MyD88, TLR2, and other, unidentified receptors that signal through MyD88 (Collazo et al. 2006; Cole et al. 2007). Bacterial DNA engagement of the NOD-like receptor (NLR) AIM2 may also be critical for inflammasome assembly and release of IL-1 β (Fernandes-Alnemri et al. 2010). This, in the opinion of our research group, may occur in the later stages of Francisella-host cell interaction, when the bacterial DNA will be accessible for receptors in intracellular space, regardless of whether they are cytosolic or intracellular membrane-bound. Simultaneously, important innate immune cells recruited to the area of infection produce effector cytokines such as IL-12p40, TNF- α , IFN- γ , and IL-17A that influence T cell development and induce host cell production of antimicrobial molecules (Karttunen et al. 1991). In addition to the classic Th1-type cytokines, other mediators include mast cell production of IL-4, which can directly inhibit Francisella intramacrophage growth, and B-1a cell production of anti-LPS antibodies that limit intraperitoneal infection (Surcel et al. 1991, Dreisbach et al. 2000). Polymorphonuclear neutrophils are essential for survival of Francisella infections initiated via some routes, but, because these fail to eradicate intracellular organisms in vitro, their contribution to infection remains unclear (Berker et al. 2006). After several days, activation and expansion of *Francisella*-specific T cells and B cells occur. The $\alpha\beta$ T cells are essential for clearance of primary infection, and they produce effector cytokines, such as IL-17A and IFN- γ , as well as the membrane-bound and soluble forms of TNF- α (Ericson et al. 2001). These factors presumably amplify and extend activation of infected mouse host cells to limit Francisella intracellular growth through production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates, as well as other unidentified antimicrobials.

2.7.2 T cell-mediated immune response to F. tularensis

Generally, the complement system's crucial activity is in inducing immune responses via the optimal contact of target antigens with macrophages, dendritic cells, and both T and B cells. However, the process of eliminating *Francisella* spp. from the body – similar to that for other intracellular pathogens – is controlled primarily by adaptive immunity and depends on the function of T cell subsets which finalize the expression of

protective immunity (Elkins et al. 2003; Elkins et al. 2007). Regarding intracellular bacteria, T cell-mediated immune responses are paramount for the control of both primary as well as secondary infections. The crucial role of T cells in controlling and eradicating F. tularensis infection has been predominantly demonstrated in experiments carried out on experimental animals (Conlan et al. 2011). In humans, an immunospecific T cell response can be demonstrated after the first 2 weeks from disease onset (Tärnvik 1989). Notwithstanding this fact, during the initial stages of tularemia the immune response is almost entirely independent of T cells. Meanwhile, the final resolution and clearance of bacteria from the cells and tissues is completely dependent on $\alpha\beta$ T cells, which need to be activated (Elkins et al. 2003; Elkins et al. 2007). Furthermore, in contrast to the wellknown role of $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cell subpopulations in the immune response against F. tularensis, the role of other T cell subpopulations is not well understood. For example, it seems likely that CD4⁻CD8⁻ double negative T cells play a substantial role during pulmonary F. tularensis infection by producing IL-17A and IFN-y cytokines that additively contribute to control of the infection (Cowley and Elkins 2003; Cowley et al. 2010).

Considerable attention has been devoted also to understanding effector mechanisms provided by the $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Although these cells appear to play a minimal role during primary infection of mice, they seem to have a larger role in the case of *F. tularensis* infection in humans, where their numbers remain elevated for as long as 1 year after infection (Poquet et al. 1998; Kroca et al. 2000). Their contribution to the protective response is still rather unclear.

In recent decades, research on anti-infection immunity has been focused on understanding the effects of important cytokines and chemokines during tularemia infection. Studies on murine models have clearly demonstrated that, as early as the initial stage of infection, cells of the innate immune system can produce IFN- γ that activates mononuclear phagocytes and thus controls the retardation of bacterial replication. It is known that CD4⁺ T helper (Th) 1 cells produce interleukin 2 and IFN- γ and mediate macrophage activation. Th2 cells, on the other hand, are able to produce interleukin 4 and interleukin 5 and provide assistance to B cells. Macrophages secrete TNF- α and IL-12 that stimulate natural killer (NK) cells to produce IFN- γ as well (Lopez et al. 2004; Gosselin et al. 2005). Thus, one major mechanism of cytokine-mediated early host response is operated through the activation of immunocompetent cells, namely NK cells and T cells.

Both activated cell types produce IFN- γ and TNF- α that subsequently activate mononuclear phagocytes to escalate their bactericidal effect and eliminate bacteria from cells and tissues.

Other studies have also described the major role of IL-12 and IL-23. Both IL-12 and IL-23 have been found able to positively regulate IFN- γ production despite the fact that IL-23 still has an unidentified role in the clearance of bacteria during intradermal sublethal *F. tularensis* LVS infection (Butchar et al. 2007; Butchar et al. 2008; Kurtz et al. 2014). Moreover, IL-23 is also an important contributor to promotion of Th17 response, which is critical for host immunity to type A *F. tularensis* infection during primary immune response but is not required during secondary immune response (Skyberg et al. 2013; Roberts et al. 2014).

In contrast, Th2 cell cytokines production has not been studied in such detail as has that of Th1 cytokines. This is despite the fact that data have been accumulated confirming the role of B cells that in the classic model require the assistance of Th2. In looking for the role of Th-2 cytokines, moreover, one comes upon conflicting data from experiments utilizing the vaccine and the virulent *F. tularensis* strains. Recent studies have demonstrated, for example, that IL-6, one of the Th-2 cytokines, is essential for primary resistance to *F. tularensis* LVS (Kurtz et al. 2013), but it fails to exert any effect on the progression of virulent strain infections (Laws et al. 2013).

2.7.3 B cell-mediated immune response to F. tularensis

The immune system is highly dynamic and diverse, and this enables it to effectively protect an individual from numerous potentially pathogenic encounters. Protective immunity against *F. tularensis* infection is usually attributed to an effective T cell response. Indeed, there is evidence that B cells are necessary for mice to develop fully protective immunity to primary and secondary LVS infections (Culkin et al. 1997; Elkins et al. 1999). Recent research focusing on the function of B cells in the course of intracellular bacterial infections clearly demonstrates that B cells constitute one of those cell types needed for the expression of an effective protective response. Beyond their historically well-recognized role in mediating humoral immune responses, B cells respond directly to such bacterial surface components as peptidoglycans, capsular polysaccharides, outer membrane proteins or lipopolysaccharides and in a T-independent manner influence

the induction of immune response. Moreover, despite the classical conception of B cells as non-phagocytizing, the peripheral B cells have been shown to phagocytize inert particles or bacteria when these corpuscles are recognized by the BCR. Thus, in fact, B cells can be characterized as ligand-selective phagocytic cells (Souwer et al. 2009). B cells can recognize and respond to both soluble and membrane-associated antigen, although recent insights suggest that membrane-associated antigens are more important for B cell activation *in vivo* (reviewed by Batista and Harwood 2009). The internalization of antigenic particles, along with the ability to extract the antigens from non-internalizable surfaces (Batista and Neuberger 2000), is a prerequisite for the function of B cells as antigen-presenting cells, which is also a well-recognized function of B cells within the immune system.

In human beings and mice, there exist multiple B cell subsets, including follicular B cells and marginal zone (MZ) B cells, as well as transitional B cells (Fagarasan et al. 2000; Lopes-Carvalho and Kearney 2004; Weill et al. 2009; Baumgarth 2011; Vaughan et al. 2011; Garraud et al. 2012; Pieper et al. 2013). It seems probable that humans contain, along with these subsets, also other functionally distinct B cell subsets that have been significantly identified in mice (see below). Follicular and MZ B cells are known as B-2 cells. MZ B cells contain naïve and antigen-experienced B cells. Follicular B cells in both species express IgM and IgD and are CD21^{int/lo} and CD23^{hi}. The level of diversity in BCR usage is greatest in follicular B cells and accounts for most of the enormous antibody diversity seen in B cells. Their productive engagement in immune responses shows a clear dependence on T cells. MZ B cells also share some similarities in mice and human beings in terms of phenotype, with both subsets being IgM⁺, IgD^{lo/-}, B220^{hi}, CD21^{hi}, and CD23^{lo}.

In mice, there are a number of additional B cell subsets that have been unambiguously recognized and these come under the umbrella term of B-1 cells (Fagarasan et al. 2000; Martin and Kearney 2001; Berland and Wortis 2002; Hardy 2006; Montecino-Rodriguez and Dorshkind 2006; Baumgarth 2011). A key feature that distinguishes B-1 cell subsets from B-2 cell subsets is their capacity to self-renew. In the steady state within the peritoneal cavity of a wild-type mouse, about 50% of B cells are B-1 cells, and the ratio of B-1a cells to B-1b cells is approximately 2:1 (Gil-Cruz et al. 2009; Marshall et al. 2012). A factor that complicates the study of B-1 cells is their more elusive phenotype. They express CD19 and low levels of IgD but relatively high levels of IgM. They can express CD43 and CD9, are negative or low expressers for other markers such as

CD21 and CD23, and are mostly intermediate for B220 (Wells et al. 1994; Won and Kearney 2002; Tung et al. 2004; Hardy 2006; Baumgarth 2011). At minimum, B-1 and MZ B cells participate in innate immune responses and may represent the functional link between innate and actively acquired immune responses (see Table II). Therefore, B cells, in their diversity and complexity, are integral to both natural as well as acquired immune system responses to infectious agents and can also contribute effectively to the phase of immunological memory.

Presenting cell	Receptor	Antigen presented
Marginal-zone B cell	CR1 and CR2	Complement-coated antigen
Follicular B cell	CR1 and CR2 FcγRIIB	Complement-coated antigen IgG-coated antigen
Macrophage	MAC1 DC-SIGN FcγRIIB	Complement-coated antigen IgG-coated antigen Carbohydrate-coated antigen
Dendritic cell	DC-SIGN FcγRIIB	IgG-coated antigen Carbohydrate-coated antigen
Follicular dendritic cell	CR1 and CR2 FcγRIIB	Complement-coated antigen IgG-coated antigen

Table II: Cell-surface molecules that are implicated in presenting antigen to B cells

CR, complement receptor; DC, dendritic cell; DC-SIGN, DC-specific ICAM3-grabbing nonintegrin; FcγRIIB, low-affinity Fc receptor for IgG; ICAM3, intercellular adhesion molecule 3; MAC1, macrophage receptor 1.

The best characterized tool of B cells for regulating immune responses is the production of IL-10 and TGF- β (O'Garra et al. 1990; Suda et al. 1990) by the subset of B cells recently termed Breg. This B cell subset expressing CD5 has been shown to be the producer of IL-10 in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (O'Garra and Howard 1992). B cells, similarly to T cells during the induction of acquired immunity, can be subdivided into at least two functional effector subsets producing distinct arrays of cytokines and chemokines. So-called B effector 1 cells (Be-1 cells) produce IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-12/p40

and IL-10 while B effector 2 cells (Be-2) produce cytokines IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-13, and TNF- α . The original resolution to Be-1 or Be-2 cells is dependent on the cognate interaction with Th1 and Th2 cells, respectively. Interestingly, these subsets of B cells can interact with naïve CD4⁺ T cells and prime them into the Th1 or Th2 immunoregulatory branch of the acquired immune response.

F. tularensis has a significant extracellular phase in the host, which makes it accessible to humoral immune responses (Forestal et al. 2007). It has been demonstrated that antibody responses containing IgM, IgG, and IgA antibody isotypes are detectable at the end of the first week following natural infection of humans (Koskela and Salminen 1985). Studies on several animal tularemia models have shown that passive transfer of polyclonal as well as monoclonal antibodies can protect naïve hosts against attenuated F. tularensis LVS and less virulent strains of subspecies holarctica, but not against inhalation infection with highly virulent F. tularensis of subspecies tularensis (Khlebnikov et al. 1992; Drabick et al. 1994; Stenmark et al. 2003; Kubelkova et al. 2012). While many laboratories have demonstrated that serum antibodies are mainly directed against F. tularensis lipopolysaccharide, serum antibodies with reactivity to bacterial proteins have also been detected. Among these are antibodies oriented against some outer membrane proteins such as FopA, OmpA (Sundaresh et al. 2007; Savitt et al. 2009) and Tul4 (Havlasova et al. 2005); against other intracellular proteins such as GroEL, KatG (Sundaresh et al. 2007) and DnaK; and against several putative virulence markers such as nucleoside diphosphate kinase, isocitrate dehydrogenase, the RNA-binding protein Hfq, and the molecular chaperone ClpB (Havlasova et al. 2002; Havlasova et al. 2005). Thus, antibodies can potentially contribute to the protective response by eliminating Francisella virulence factors and, together with the antibody-independent functions of B cells, can demonstrate the potential of B cells to collaborate with T cells in the induction, regulation, and expression of protective immunity against F. tularensis infection. The construction of B cell-deficient mice renders studying the role of B cells in protective immune mechanisms against F. tularensis more feasible. These animals have no B cells and no detectable antibody levels, but they do have a fully functional T cell compartment (Elkins et al. 1999; Bosio and Elkins 2001).

3 AIMS OF THESIS

- > To determine the final fate of B cells after mutual interaction with *F. tularensis*
- ➤ To determine the B cell participation in the induction and regulation of the adaptive immune response during early stages of *F. tularensis* infection
- To determine the B cell-mediated effector responses together with the induction of T cell-mediated immunity against *F. tularensis* infection

4 OVERVIEW OF METHODOLOGICAL APPROACHES

To analyze the mutual interaction of B cells with intracellular pathogen the murine model of *F. tularensis* infection has been used. Mice were killed by cervical dislocation and the organs have been aseptically removed. Peritoneal cells were harvested using lavage technique. Bacterial burden has been determined by plating peritoneal and/or spleen suspensions onto McLeod solid plates and by counting the CFU. *In vivo* experiments on mice were conducted under supervision of the institution's Animal Unit and were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences, University of Defense, Hradec Kralove, Czech Republic. All cultivation and cocultivation experiments have been conducted under Biosafety level 2 lab safeties with ensuring of sterility of all samples.

All bacterial lysates of *F. tularensis* have been prepared according the lab manual using Chamberlain growth medium and French Press technology for disruption of bacteria. Disrupted cultures were then tested for lack of viability by inoculation undiluted samples onto McLeod solid agar followed by incubation at 36.8 °C for 72 h.

The influence of bacterial load and time of infection on B cell apoptosis was determined using following flow cytometry approaches:

- a) determination of cell populations, infected cells, and activating markers using antibodies against cell surface components and specific markers,
- b) depolarization of electrochemical mitochondrial membrane potencial, as an important index in the induction of cellular apoptosis using fluorescent cationic dye JC-1,
- c) detection of apoptosis using Wildan's propidium iodide solution staining of target infected of uninfected cells,
- d) externalization of phosphatidylserine in apoptotic cells using recombinant annexin
 V conjugated to green-fluorescent FITC dye and dead cells using propidium iodide
 (while propidium iodide stains necrotic cells with red fluorescence),
- e) cell sorting using anti-CD19-FITC staining

➤ Individual apoptotic pathways were detected using the Western blot analysis where increased expression of active forms of selected caspases has been observed. Moreover the activation of mitochondrial apoptotic pathway followed by a release of apoptogenic factors

from the mitochondrial space were determined by monitoring of expressed level of selected proapoptotic molecules.

Several genes associated with apoptosis were also analyzed using Oligo DNA Microarray analyses resulting in the gene expression changes.

➤ Levels of selected cytokines and antibodies were determined using cytokine Quantibody Array technology or enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays.

Cobalt-60 gamma irradiation source was used for sublethal whole-body irradiation of mice in the followed dose of 4 Gy.

Detailed information on the individual experimental procedures is given in publications related to this thesis.

5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 Activation of apoptotic processes in human cell (Paper I.)

Although *F. tularensis* replicates during infection primarily in macrophages, it also proliferates in other cell types. Various receptors mediate its entry into host cells. Complement-opsonized *F. tularensis* enters macrophages by looping phagocytosis. Uptake is mediated in part by Syk, which may activate actin rearrangement in the phagocytic cup and result in *F. tularensis* being engulfed in a lipid raft-rich phagosome (Parsa et al. 2008). Inside host cells, *F. tularensis* resides transiently in an acidified late endosome-like compartment prior to disruption of the phagosomal membrane and the escapes into the cytosol, where bacterial proliferation occurs. The *Francisella* pathogenicity island-encoded type VI-like secretion system mediates modulation of phagosome biogenesis and escape into the cytosol (Santic et al. 2005). During late infection stages in mouse macrophages, *F. tularensis* is taken up in an autophagy-like compartment (Checroun et al. 2006). This reentry of *F. tularensis* into the endosomal–lysosomal pathway through autophagy does not occur in human macrophages, however, and is therefore not relevant to infection of humans.

It recently has become generally clear that B cells can be an equal partner with T cells, dendritic cells, and macrophages in creating an effective immune response against F. *tularensis* infection. The precise mechanism and general fate and trafficking of B cells within F. *tularensis* infection has not yet been elucidated. This thesis provides more detailed information with regard to this unanswered question.

Interaction of human B cells with F. tularensis

F. tularensis interacts directly with the Ramos human B cell line (RA-1) and invades it. The first contact of *Francisella* with the B cell is characterized by the creation of a tight junction of bacterial and eukaryotic cell membranes. *F. tularensis* LVS bacteria adhere to the cell surface within 6 h. Within the next 24 h of co-cultivation, about 25% of cells in cultures of Ramos cells have intracellularly localized bacteria (see Fig. 2).

Activation of death receptor-mediated (extrinsic) caspase pathway

The term 'apoptosis' was coined by Kerr, Wyllie and Currie in 1972 to describe a mode of cell death associated with fragmentation of genomic DNA (Kerr et al. 1972). Cysteine-aspartic proteases (caspases) comprise a family of cysteine proteases playing essential roles in apoptosis (programmed cell death), necrosis, and inflammation. The mechanisms and functions of caspase activation remain central to the apoptotic signaling network. Activation of apoptotic caspases results in inactivation or activation of substrates and the generation of a cascade of signaling events permitting the controlled demolition of cellular components.

Depending upon the inducers of apoptosis involved, apoptotic signals originate either extracellularly (extrinsic pathway) or intracellularly (intrinsic pathway). The extrinsic apoptotic pathway is activated by such death receptors on the plasma membrane as tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 (TNFR1) and Fas/CD95. As ligands bind to these receptors, the complex inducing death signaling is formed and leads to initiation of the caspase cascade through caspase 8.



Fig. 2: Transmission electron microscopy of human Ramos cell line infected with *Francisella tularensis* LVS (MOI 500) after 6 h (**A–B**), 12 h (**C**), and 24 h (**D**). Magnification ×55,000 (**C**) and ×45,000 (**D**) (Krocova et al. 2008).

Increased expression of cleaved active forms of caspase 8 was detected by western blot from 9 h after B cell infection with *F. tularensis*. Active caspase 8 activates caspases 3 and 7 either directly or by cleavage of the Bcl-2 interacting protein.

Activation of mitochondrial-mediated (intrinsic) caspase pathway

Because it depends on factors released from the mitochondria, intrinsic apoptosis is also known as mitochondrial apoptosis. A vast array of cellular stresses activate this pathway, including growth factor deprivation, cytoskeletal disruption, DNA damage, accumulation of unfolded proteins, hypoxia, and many others. It can be activated, too, by developmental signals that instruct cells to die, such as hormones (Brenner and Mak 2009). Caspase 9 is the initiator caspase responsible for the intrinsic apoptosis pathway. It is activated by dimerization induced when the caspase-9 CARD domain binds to the adapter protein apoptotic protease-activating factor-1 (APAF1) (Shiozaki et al. 2002). The intrinsic apoptotic pathway is characterized by permeabilization of the mitochondria and release of cytochrome c into the cytoplasm. Cytochrome c then forms a multi-protein complex known as the "apoptosome" and initiates activation of the caspase cascade through caspase 9, which acts as a focal point for multiple protein kinase signaling pathways regulating apoptosis (Shiozaki et al. 2002).

Changes in mitochondrial membrane potential were found 1 h after infection with *F. tularensis*. After 6 h, more than 60% of infected cells showed depolarized membrane potential. Moreover, disappearance of cytochrome c from the mitochondrial fraction was observed when compared with noninfected or killed counterparts. In contrast, increased levels of apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) were detected at 12 and 24 h after infection of Ramos cells. This points to a caspase-independent apoptotic pathway, because AIF is a mitochondrial positive intrinsic regulator of apoptosis that triggers chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation in a cell to induce programmed cell death. Enhanced expression of the active form of caspase 9 was observed at 9, 12 and 24 h post infection, and this was confirmed by the colorimetric method.

Activation of caspase 3

Caspase 3 is activated in the apoptotic cell both by extrinsic (death ligand) and intrinsic (mitochondrial) pathways. To prevent untimely activation of the executioner caspase 3, it is produced as an inactive procaspase dimer that must be cleaved by an initiator caspase. This cleavage between the large and small subunits allows a conformational change that joins the two active sites of the executioner caspase to create a functional mature protease (Riedl and Shi 2004). Once activated, a single executioner caspase can cleave and activate other executioner caspases, leading to an accelerated feedback loop of caspase activation. Caspase 3 may have the opposite effect, however, as B cells lacking caspase 3 have shown increased proliferation *in vivo* and hyperproliferation after mitogenic stimulation *in vitro* (Woo et al. 2003).

In our study, the activity of caspase 3 was significantly increased 24 h after infection of Ramos cells with live as well as with killed *F. tularensis* bacteria. Despite the limited multiplication of *Francisella* inside Ramos RA-1 cells, the cells in infected culture undergo the apoptotic process. Surprisingly, the number of apoptotic cells in culture is much higher than is the number of infected cells. An experiment to transfer apoptosis from

infected to noninfected cultures was unsuccessful, and this may suggest that only the contact of a bacterium with a B cell can activate one of the receptor-mediated apoptotic pathways.

In conclusion, flow cytometry, western blot, colorimetric assay and transmission electron microscopy data show that B cells are infected with *F. tularensis*, probably resulting in cell death through apoptosis. Taken together, the collective results indicate that live *F. tularensis* bacteria activate all of the tested apoptotic pathways in B cells within 24 h of interaction, including the extrinsic type I (caspase 8) and type II (tBID) pathways, the intrinsic (cytochrome c, caspase 9) pathways, and the caspase-independent (AIF) pathways. Clearly then, these events can play an important role in the host's innate immune response to *Francisella* infection.

5.2 Significant role of murine B cells in the course of *F. tularensis* infection (Paper II.)

Direct interaction of B cell subpopulations with bacteria results in autonomous B cell differentiation and rapid secretion of bacterium-specific antibodies that influence the pathogen's distribution to vital organs. Moreover, specific antibodies against intracellular bacteria have been demonstrated to have protective potential. On the other hand, intracellular bacteria survive intracellularly in B cells mainly in a non-replicative state, as such constituting a source of systemic infection and/or reservoir for reinfection. B cells thus comprise one of the cell types responsible for the final fate when intracellular bacterial pathogens interact with their hosts. Because the relevant data in the literature has been ambiguous, we have studied the role of B cells in the course of *F. tularensis* infection. Within the study, not only was a murine B cell line used, but spleen and peritoneal cells were also applied for analyzing various cell types during *F. tularensis* infection.

Interaction of mouse B cells with F. tularensis

Transmission electron microscopy was used to study the direct interaction of *F*. *tularensis* LVS with B cells. *F. tularensis* interacts directly with and invades the A-20 mouse B cell line. Approximately 6% of bacteria were adherent to A-20 cells after 6 h of infection (Figs. 3A and 3B). The number of bacteria localized on the outer side of the cytoplasmic membrane was similar for A-20 cells when compared with the Ramos cell line, and it decreased over the course of infection to approximately 3% after 12 h and 0.5% after 24 h. The first contact of *Francisella* with the B cell is characterized by the creation of a tight junction of bacterial and eukaryotic cell membranes. *F. tularensis* LVS bacteria adhere to the cell surface within 6 h. Within the next 24 h of co-cultivation, about 25% of cells in cultures of A-20 cells have intracellularly localized bacteria (see Figs. 3C and 3D).



Fig. 3: Transmission electron microscopy of mouse A-20 cell line infected with *Francisella tularensis* LVS (MOI 500) after 6 h (**A–B**), 12 h (**C**), and 24 h (**D**). Magnification ×55,000 (**C**) and ×45,000 (**D**) (Kročová et al. 2008).

We found that bacteria were adherent to the surface of eukaryotic cells independently of the type of host cells (in this case A-20 cells). Together with bacteria adherent to the cell surface 6 h after infection, we also detected approximately 7% of A-20 cells with engulfed *F. tularensis* LVS. The number of cells containing bacteria inside increased to 25% after 12 h, which level persisted through 24 h. (Detailed information about the direct interaction of *F. tularensis* with A-20 cells can be found in Kročová et al. 2008.)

Cellular changes in the peritoneal cavity after F. tularensis infection

B-1 cells may have phagocytic and antigen-presenting functions, secrete cytokines to modulate the host, and produce antibodies, even as these properties may not necessarily be mutually exclusive within individual cells (Yanaba et al. 2008; Popi et al. 2009; Gao et al. 2012; Parra et al. 2012). B-1a cells express CD5 and, at least in the steady state, are the dominant B-1 cell subset in the peritoneal cavity. B-1 and B-2 cells are lymphocyte

populations that play a major role in maintaining host immunological tone and homeostasis, make striking contributions to the control of infections, and differ in development, surface marker expression, tissue localization, and function (Baumgarth et al. 1999, 2000; Baumgarth 2011).

It has been observed through the first three weeks of infection that the populations of individual cell types underwent significant changes as measured by their relative proportions in the peritoneal cavity. Already 30 min after infection, different infected cell types (T cells, B cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, NK cells, granulocytes) were detected in the spleen and peritoneum. The percentage of B-1a cells was growing until 10 d after infection, even as the percentage of B-2 cells was declining. The proportion of B-1b cells appeared to be relatively stable (see Table III).

Table III: Distribution of different cell populations in peritoneal cavity of F. tularensis LVS infected Balb/c mice

Time	Control	1 d	3 d	5 d	7 d	10 d	14 d	21 d
Population	ı							
T cells ^a	19.77 ± 1.75	$13.42 \pm 2.99 **$	$16.60 \pm 1.23*$	23.43 ± 1.41	21.91 ± 8.46	$28.78\pm3.8*$	$30.40\pm3.40^*$	$30.18 \pm 1.41 **$
B cells ^a	62.07 ± 3.08	50.89 ± 8.48	59.13 ± 4.25	$30.81 \pm 10.41 *$	51.62 ± 3.22	51.45 ± 8.08	$48.17 \pm 0.38 **$	$48.88\pm2.12*$
B-2 ^b	37.62 ± 6.23	26.17 ± 6.39	22.44 ± 11.51	$13.26 \pm 2.00 **$	$11.45 \pm 1.83 **$	$16.96\pm1.26*$	38.08 ± 0.32	39.80 ± 5.75
B-1a ^b	18.51 ± 3.36	19.90 ± 0.05	$44.31 \pm 2.72^{**}$	$47.64 \pm 8.89^*$	50.69 ± 3.40**	53.55 ± 2.62**	29.54 ± 0.44	26.82 ± 6.43
B-1b ^b	43.93 ± 3.52	53.54 ± 6.63	34.06 ± 8.68	40.70 ± 7.68	39.85 ± 4.50	30.05 ± 1.80	32.51 ± 0.17	33.30 ± 0.90
Mf ^a	6.87 ± 1.33	$16.42\pm5.16^*$	$21.35 \pm 2.05 **$	$22.41 \pm 2.86^{**}$	$13.86\pm1.91^*$	12.31 ± 9.17	7.43 ± 0.13	4.86 ± 0.55
DC^{a}	5.17 ± 2.06	6.12 ± 2.59	$0.55\pm0.06*$	2.03 ± 0.63	1.30 ± 0.30	$0.54\pm0.92*$	$0.31\pm0.31*$	10.43 ± 1.94
Gr-1 ^a	3.95 ± 2.95	7.22 ± 5.13	$10.41 \pm 3.0*$	11.51 ± 0.99	8.32 ± 1.51	5.11 ± 4.13	6.07 ± 0.09	2.00 ± 0.68
NK1.1 ^a	2.55 ± 0.72	$5.75\pm0.71*$	2.79 ± 0.61	$9.47 \pm 1.60*$	4.41 ± 1.03	3.19 ± 2.84	4.67 ± 0.04	3.73 ± 1.40

a) Results are expressed as percentage of all measured cells.

b) Results are expressed as percentage of all B lymphocytes.

c) Results shown are representatives of three independent experiments, each using three individual animals.

Results are expressed as means \pm standard deviation. Asterisks indicate values that are statistically different in comparison with those from uninfected control mice. (* $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$).

CD19⁺ cell subset express activation markers after F. tularensis infection

Kinetics studies of B-1a, B-1b and B-2 cells were performed on cells isolated from the peritoneum and spleen of infected Balb/c mice using flow cytometry. To establish whether the mutual interaction of F. *tularensis* and B cells activates the latter selected

activation markers, major histocompatibility complex II class molecules, CD25, CD54, CD69, CD80, and CD86 were used to monitor the activation process of B cell subsets in peritoneum and spleen of control and infected mice. The results demonstrated the activation of B-1a and B-1b peritoneal as well as spleen cells in response to *F. tularensis* infection. In general, it can be said that splenic B cells were activated during later intervals of infection when compared to their peritoneum counterparts. Nevertheless, the sole exceptions were the early activating marker CD69 and co-stimulatory molecule CD86, whose expression was significantly increased 24 h after infection.

CD69 is one of the cell surface antigens expressed earliest on B cells and also on a variety of other cell types, including macrophages, platelets, neutrophils, and NK cells. Shiow et al. (2006) reported that endogenous CD69 inhibits the function of the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor in T cells and B cells, engagement of which is known to play an important role in lymphocyte activation and relocation. Moreover, the CD86 co-stimulatory molecule plays a prominent role in immune regulation. Regarding activation, development of the inflammatory process depends upon T cell activation, which requires engagement of the T cell receptor with the MHC-peptide complex presented on the cell surface of antigen-presenting cells. In addition to this antigen-specific stimulation, a second interaction involving a co-stimulatory molecule, CD28, on T cells and its ligands, CD80 and CD86, on antigen-presenting cells is required for optimal T cell activation. Changes in the expression of receptors and/or receptor ligands on the surface of cooperating immunocompetent cells are crucial for the functional cell–cell interactions. Such interactions are indispensable during the regulatory stage of immune response and during the induction of secondary response to pathogens.

CD19⁺ cells produce set of cytokines in response to F. tularensis infection

Interrelationships among B cells and other lymphoid cells during the induction of immune response against intracellular pathogens are controlled by the secretion of cytokines and expression of membrane-bound receptor ligands and their receptors. B cells are potent producers of a whole range of cytokines after infection. Depending, though, on the phase of infection, responding B cell subsets, and stage of induced immune response, the cytokines produced by B cells can positively and/or negatively regulate the expression

of defense mechanisms and bacterial load in the organs of the infected host. Activation of B cells is associated with those cells' increased production of cytokines.

To observe the cytokine response of peritoneal and spleen B cells to *F. tularensis* infection, a kinetic study of selected cytokine production was made using sorted and infected B cells from the peritoneum and spleen. Sorted, infected peritoneal CD19⁺ cells produced significantly more of the cytokines IFN- γ , IL-12, IL-17, IL-1 β , IL-23, IL-4, IL-6, and TNF- α than did control cells at least as early as 12 h after intraperitoneal (*i.p.*) infection. The levels of tested cytokines in supernatants of CD19⁻ cells isolated from the peritoneum and spleen during the first 24 h after infection were comparable to those of CD19⁻ cells isolated from uninfected mice. Significantly greater production was observed only for IL-2 and IL-17 by peritoneal CD19⁻ cells in intervals 48 and 72 h after infection.

The production of cytokines by CD19⁺ cells at the initial phase of *i.p.* infection may be functionally important because at the early time intervals the CD19⁻ cells do not respond significantly to infection by producing any of those cytokines tested. Their response, according to our data, began approximately 3 d after infection and can correspond to the onset of a T-dependent phase of the immune response. The spectrum of cytokines produced in response to *F. tularensis* infection corresponds to that produced by Th1, Th2, as well as Th17 cells. Although the exact contribution of CD19⁺ cells to induction and regulation of the protective response is still to be defined, it is clear that peritoneal as well as spleen CD19⁺ cells respond to *i.p.* infection by cytokine production earlier than do CD19⁻ cells. This can suggest that the abilities of T and B cells to activate the second immunocompetent partner are reciprocal.

5.3. The role of humoral response is important for development of protective immunity against *F. tularensis* infection (Paper III)

Antibodies constitute one of the main components of humoral immunity, having their role in natural as well as acquired immune reactions. Both types of reactions mediated by antibodies play a role in the course of infections mediated by such bacterial intracellular pathogens. Antibodies provide a wall of protection against infection. In the course of infection by intracellular bacteria, the role of antibodies in the protective response has long been underestimated. Since antibodies against many antigens are not protective, it may be that antibodies derived from B-1 cells provide greater protection in relative terms than do those from B-2 cells and particularly those from follicular B cells. Natural antibodies produced by B-1 cells have been demonstrated to be protective (Shilova et al. 2011), which may suggest that a wide repertoire of antibody clones (or responses) is not always necessary to protect against intracellular bacterial infection.

Passive protection of Balb/c mice against subsequent F. tularensis challenge

F. tularensis has a significant extracellular phase in the host, thus making it accessible to humoral immune responses (Forestal et al. 2007). Antibody responses containing IgM, IgG, and IgA antibody isotypes have been shown to be detectable at the end of the first week following natural infection of humans (Koskela and Salminen 1985). The characteristic Th1 and Th2 antibody isotypes (IgM, IgG, IgG2a, IgG2b, IgG3, and IgA) can long persist in sera after infection of mice (Kirimanjeswara et al. 2007). In addition to LPS, the antibodies in immune murine and human convalescent sera are directed also against proteins, among which are actual or putative virulence factors (Havlasova et al. 2005; Janovska et al. 2007a, 2007b). Multiple experimental models of infection show that IgM is critical for much of the short- and long-term protection afforded after natural infection and that the functional roles of IgM and IgG are likely to be synergistic (Racine and Winslow 2009). Pentameric IgM's high avidity means that it is efficient in activating complement, whereas not all IgG isotypes are equally efficient in doing so (Dangl et al. 1988).

To examine the functioning of antibodies in protecting against tularemia, we have employed the experimental model of sub-lethally irradiated mice. Naïve Balb/c mice were irradiated using ⁶⁰Co at a sublethal dose of 4 Gy to test the possibility for protecting an immunocompromised host by passive transfer of immune sera. The fact that sublethal γ -irradiation of mice resulted in a Th1/Th2 imbalance can help to elucidate in greater detail the importance of cytokines and specific circulating antibodies in the mouse model of *F*. *tularensis* infection (Park et al. 2011). One of the effects of ionizing radiation on the immune system is the resulting disbalance of cytokine production. Substantial lymphopenia, caused by an induction of lymphocyte apoptosis, starts within several hours after irradiation, and recovery requires at minimum 2 weeks (as demonstrated on the murine model). During this period, the resistance to infections is greatly impaired.

Doses of γ -irradiation greater than 3 Gy completely impair the resistance to *F*. *tularensis* in mice. Our results demonstrated that the passive transfer of immunity by sera from mice immunized with *F*. *tularensis* LVS protected sub-lethally irradiated mice against the challenge with otherwise lethal infection caused by *F*. *tularensis* subsp. *holarctica* as well as provided full protection against a subsequent challenge with a dose of the fully virulent *F*. *tularensis* strain SchuS4 that was lethal for unirradiated control counterparts. Some limits were nevertheless observed in the capability of transferred sera to protect irradiated mice against *F*. *tularensis* LVS infection. Within the model of irradiated mice overall, a significant effect was demonstrated from passive transfer of immunity through specific anti-*F*. *tularensis* antisera.

Irradiated and passively protected Balb/c mice – the interplay of cytokine production

Post-irradiation changes in the composition of immunocompetent cells strongly influence immune system functions. Within the context of our experimental model, changes in the production of cytokines that ensure intercellular communication among immune cells, fibroblasts and other cells are of key importance. Immediately after irradiation, the synthesis and secretion of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines can be detected, and these can increase the robustness of the immune response. Such traditional pro-inflammatory cytokines as IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-6 with TNF- α and INF- γ that are critical for resolving the primary infection were selected for monitoring cytokine responses to irradiation and/or infection. Due to the fact that γ -irradiation in general depresses cytokines' response to infection, we also monitored the levels of selected cytokines in immunocompromised infected mice.

Specifically, cytokine production following *i.d.* infection with *F. tularensis* LVS was studied. The first approach was to determine selected cytokines in sera from irradiated Balb/c mice and irradiated and passively protected Balb/c mice infected *i.d.* with 10^2 CFU of *F. tularensis* LVS on day 3 after irradiation. Because the levels of cytokines can vary in different tissue compartments, we decided to take also a second approach consisting of determining cytokines levels in selected organs (spleen, liver, and lungs). We analyzed the cytokine levels in homogenates of organs obtained from irradiated and irradiated and passively protected Balb/c mice infected *i.d.* with 10^2 CFU of *F. tularensis* LVS.

As seen similarly in the case of other intracellular pathogens, rapid production of pro-inflammatory and Th1-type cytokines is critical for initial control of *Francisella* infection in all settings examined to date. There nevertheless is a striking lack of crucial pro-inflammatory cytokines during the first 48 h of murine pulmonary *Francisella* infection. It is not until after the first 48–72 h of murine infection that key cytokines and chemokines become readily detectable. During virulent *F. tularensis* respiratory infection of mice, mRNA levels of such essential antimicrobial cytokines as IFN- γ and TNF- α have been shown to rise in the lungs between days 2 and 4 (Andersson et al. 2006b), and serum/distal organ levels of pro-inflammatory mediators such as RANTES, IL-6, and IL-1 β have become detectable on days 3–4 (Conlan et al. 2008). After 2 d of unrestricted bacterial growth, however, key organs such as the lungs and liver harbor extremely high bacterial burdens. Thus, the relatively late upregulation of antimicrobial host immune mechanisms appears to be too late to prevent death.

6 CONCLUSION

As an experimental model, *Francisella* is unique in establishing productive infection in a huge variety of insects and mammals by many routes. In mice, basic immune parameters that operate in defense against other intracellular pathogen infections, such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , and reactive nitrogen intermediates, are central for control of *Francisella* infection. However, other important immune mediators have been newly revealed, including IL-17A, TLR2, and the inflammasome. Furthermore, a variety of cell types in addition to macrophages are now recognized as supporting *Francisella* growth, including epithelial cells and dendritic cells. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells are clearly important for control of primary infection and vaccine-induced protection, but new T cell subpopulations and the mechanisms employed by T cells are only beginning to be defined. Along with the classic spectrum of protective responses to *F. tularensis*, a significant role for B cells and specific antibodies has been established. Their contributions vary greatly, however, between bacterial strains of lower and higher virulence. Although B cells and their products have significant roles in protective immunity to *Francisella*, optimal protection against *Francisella* infection clearly requires T cell-mediated immunity.

The thesis presented here has thus clearly demonstrated that B cell subsets, namely during the early stages of immune response, play an essential role at the border of innate and acquired immune responses against an intracellular bacterium. The production of antibodies, production of cytokines, and mutual contacts with other immunocompetent cells are all attributes of B cell subsets during the induction and regulation of immune responses against *F. tularensis* infection.

The *Francisella* models appear to be particularly attractive for tackling some current themes regarding immunity to pathogens, such as comparing similarities and differences in systemic or mucosal immunity, understanding the tension between pathogen-induced immunosuppression and host immune responsiveness, and appreciating the ongoing interplay between rapid innate reactions and later specific immunity.

7 REFERENCES

- Abd H, Johansson T, Golovliov I, Sandström G, Forsman M. Survival and growth of Francisella tularensis in Acanthamoeba castellanii. Appl Environ Microbiol 2003;69:600–6.
- Al-Khodor S., Abu Kwaik Y., Triggering Ras signalling by intracellular Francisella tularensis through recruitment of PKCα and βI to the SOS2/GrB2 complex is essential for bacterial proliferation in the cytosol, Cell Microbiol., 2010, 12, 1604–21.
- Andersson, H., Hartmanova, B., Kuolee, R., Ryden, P., Conlan, W., Chen, W., and Sjostedt, A. (2006b). Transcriptional profiling of host responses in mouse lungs following aerosol infection with type A Francisella tularensis. J. Med. Microbiol. 55, 263–271.
- Anthony LD., Burke RD., Nano FE., Growth of Francisella spp. in rodent macrophages, Infect Immun., 1991, 59, 3291–6.
- Balagopal A., MacFarlane AS., Mohapatra N., Soni S., Gunn JS., Schlesinger LS., Characterization of the receptor-ligand pathways important for entry and survival of Francisella tularensis in human macrophages, Infect Immun., 2006, 74, 5114–25.
- Barel M., Hovanessian AG., Meibom K., Briand J-P., Dupuis M., Charbit A., A novel receptor - ligand pathway for entry of Francisella tularensis in monocyte-like THP-1 cells: interaction between surface nucleolin and bacterial elongation factor Tu, BMC Microbiol., 2008, 8, 145.
- Barel M., Charbit A., Francisella tularensis intracellular survival: To eat or to die., Microbes Infect., 2013, Doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2013.09.009
- Bakshi CS., Malik M., Regan K., Melendez JA., Metzger DW., Pavlov VM, et al., Superoxide dismutase B gene (sodB)-deficient mutants of Francisella tularensis demonstrate hypersensitivity to oxidative stress and attenuated virulence, J Bacteriol., 2006, 188, 6443–8.
- Barker JH, Weiss J, Apicella MA, Nauseef WM. Basis for the failure of Francisella tularensis lipopolysaccharide to prime human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Infect Immun. 2006 Jun;74(6):3277-84.

Batista, FD; Neuberger, MS. B cells extract and present immobilized antigen: implications for affinity discrimination. EMBO J, 2000; 19, 513–20.

Batista FD, Harwood NE. The who, how and where of antigen presentation to B cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009 Jan;9(1):15-27.

- Baumgarth N, Chen J, Herman OC, Jager GC, Herzenberg LA. The role of B-1 and B-2 cells in immune protection from influenza virus infection. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol (2000) 252:163–9.
- Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC, Brown L, Herzenberg LA. Innate and acquired humoral immunities to influenza virus are mediated by distinct arms of the immune system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (1999) **96**:2250–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.5.2250
- Baumgarth N, Herman OC, Jager GC, Brown LE, Herzenberg LA, Chen J. B-1 and B-2 cell-derived immunoglobulin M antibodies are nonredundant components of the protective response to influenza virus infection. J Exp Med (2000) **192**:271–80. doi:10.1084/jem.192.2.271

- Baumgarth N. The double life of a B-1 cell: self-reactivity selects for protective effector functions. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) **11**:34–46. doi:10.1038/nri2901a
- Bell JF, Stewart SJ. Chronic shedding tularemia nephritis in rodents: possible relation to occurrence of Francisella tularensis in lotic waters. J Wildl Dis 1975;11:421–30.
- Bell JF, Stewart SJ. Quantum differences in oral susceptibility of voles, Microtus pennsylvanicus, to virulent Francisella tularensis type B, in drinking water: implications to epidemiology. Ecol Dis 1983;2:151–5.
- Bell JF, Kahn O. Efficacy of some drugs and biologic preparations as therapeutic agents for tularemia. Archives of Internal Medicine 1945;75:155–72.
- Berland R, Wortis HH. Origins and functions of B-1 cells with notes on the role of CD5.AnnuRevImmunol(2002)20:253–300.doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.100301.064833
- Bönquist L., Lindgren H., Golovliov I., Guina T., Sjöstedt A., MglA and Igl proteins contribute to the modulation of Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain-containing phagosomes in murine macrophages, Infect Immun., 2008, 76, 3502–10.
- Bosio CM, Elkins KL. Susceptibility to secondary Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain infection in B-cell-deficient mice is associated with neutrophilia but not with defects in specific T-cell-mediated immunity. Infect Immun 2001;69:194–203.

Brenner D, Mak TW. 2009. Mitochondrial cell death effectors. Curr Opin Cell Biol **21**: 871–877.

- Butchar JP., Cremer TJ., Clay CD., Gavrilin MA., Wewers MD., Marsh CB., et al., Microarray analysis of human monocytes infected with Francisella tularensis identifies new targets of host response subversion, PLoS ONE, 2008, 3, 2924.
- Butchar JP, Rajaram MVS, Ganesan LP, Parsa KVL, Clay CD, Schlesinger LS, et al. Francisella tularensis induces IL-23 production in human monocytes. J Immunol 2007;178:4445–54.
- Butchar JP, Parsa KVL, Marsh CB, Tridandapani S. IFN gamma enhances IL-23 production during Francisella infection of human monocytes. FEBS Lett 2008;582:1044–8.
- Celli J, Zahrt TC. Mechanisms of Francisella tularensis intracellular pathogenesis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2013;3:a010314.
- Clemens DL., Lee B-Y., Horwitz MA., Virulent and avirulent strains of Francisella tularensis prevent acidification and maturation of their phagosomes and escape into the cytoplasm in human macrophages, Infect Immun., 2004, 72, 3204–17.
- Clemens DL., Lee B-Y., Horwitz MA., Francisella tularensis enters macrophages via a novel process involving pseudopod loops, Infect Immun., 2005, 73, 5892–902.
- Clemens DL, Horwitz MA. Uptake and intracellular fate of Francisella tularensis in human macrophages. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007;1105:160–86.
- Collazo CM, Sher A, Meierovics AI, Elkins KL. Myeloid differentiationfactor-88 (MyD88) is essential for control of primary in vivo Francisella tularensis LVS infection, but not for control of intra-macrophage bacterial replication. Microbes Infect. 2006 Mar;8(3):779-90. Epub 2006 Jan 18.
- Cole LE, Shirey KA, Barry E, Santiago A, Rallabhandi P, Elkins KL, Puche AC, Michalek SM, Vogel SN. Toll-like receptor 2-mediated signaling requirements for Francisella

tularensis live vaccine strain infection of murine macrophages.Infect Immun. 2007 Aug;75(8):4127-37. Epub 2007 May 21.

- Conlan JW., North RJ., Early pathogenesis of infection in the liver with the facultative intracellular bacteria Listeria monocytogenes, Francisella tularensis, and Salmonella typhimurium involves lysis of infected hepatocytes by leukocytes, Infect Immun., 1992, 60, 5164–71.
- Conlan JW, Chen W, Bosio CM, Cowley SC, Elkins KL. Infection of mice with Francisella as an immunological model. Curr Protoc Immunol 2011;Chapter 19:Unit 19.14.
- Conlan, J. W., Zhao, X., Harris, G., Shen, H., Bolanowski, M., Rietz, C., Sjostedt, A., and Chen, W. (2008). Molecular immunology of experimental primary tularemia in mice infected by respiratory or intradermal routes with type A Francisella tularensis. Mol. Immunol. 45, 2962–2969.
- Cowley SC, Elkins KL. Multiple T cell subsets control Francisella tularensis LVS intracellular growth without stimulation through macrophage interferon gamma receptors. J Exp Med 2003;198:379–89.
- Cowley SC, Meierovics AI, Frelinger JA, Iwakura Y, Elkins KL. Lung CD4-CD8- doublenegative T cells are prominent producers of IL-17A and IFN-gamma during primary respiratory murine infection with Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain. J Immunol 2010;184:5791–801.
- Cremer TJ., Amer A., Tridandapani S., Butchar JP., Francisella tularensis regulates autophagy-related host cell signaling pathways, Autophagy, 2009, 5, 125–8.
- Culkin SJ, Rhinehart-Jones T, Elkins KL. A novel role for B cells in early protective immunity to an intracellular pathogen, Francisella tularensis strain LVS. J Immunol 1997;158:3277–84.
- Dai S., Mohapatra NP., Schlesinger LS., Gunn JS., Regulation of francisella tularensis virulence, Front Microbiol., 2010, 1, 144.
- Dangl JL, Wensel TG, Morrison SL, Stryer L, Herzenberg LA, Oi VT. Segmental flexibility and complement fixation of genetically engineered chimeric human, rabbit and mouse antibodies. EMBO J (1988) 7:1989–94.
- Deretic V., Levine B., Autophagy, immunity, and microbial adaptations, Cell Host Microbe, 2009, 5, 527–49.
- Dorofiev K., Classification of the causative agent of tularemia, Symp. Res. Works Inst. Epidemiol. Microbiol., 1947, 170–80.
- Drabick, JJ; Narayanan, RB; Williams, JC; Leduc, JW; Nacy, CA. Passive protection of mice against lethal Francisella tularensis (live tularemia vaccine strain) infection by the sera of human recipients of the live tularemia vaccine. Am J Med Sci, 1994; 308, 83–7.
- Dreisbach VC, Cowley S, Elkins KL. Purified lipopolysaccharide from Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain (LVS) induces protective immunity against LVS infection that requires B cells and gamma interferon. Infect Immun. 2000 Apr;68(4):1988-96.
- Eigelsbach HT, Downs CM. Prophylactic effectiveness of live and killed tularemia vaccines. I. Production of vaccine and evaluation in the white mouse and guinea pig. J Immunol 1961;87:415–25.

Eaves-Pyles T, Patel J, Arigi E, Cong Y, Cao A, Garg N, et al. Immunomodulatory and antibacterial effects of cystatin 9 against Francisella tularensis. Mol Med 2013;19:263–75.

Elbert BJ, Gaiski NA. On the mechanic of infection and immunity in experimental tularemia. Zh Mikrobiol Epidemiol Immunobiol 1945:55–6.

Elbert BJ. Experimental basis of the cutaneous method of vaccination against tularemia. Zh Mikrobiol Epidemiol Immunobiol 1946:87–9.

- Elkins KL, Bosio CM, Rhinehart-Jones TR. Importance of B cells, but not specific antibodies, in primary and secondary protective immunity to the intracellular bacterium Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain. Infect Immun 1999;67:6002–7.
- Elkins KL, Cowley SC, Bosio CM. Innate and adaptive immune responses to an intracellular bacterium, Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain. Microbes Infect 2003;5:135–42.
- Elkins KL, Cowley SC, Bosio CM. Innate and adaptive immunity to Francisella. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007;1105:284–324.
- Endsley JJ, Torres AG, Gonzales CM, Kosykh VG, Motin VL, Peterson JW, et al. Comparative antimicrobial activity of granulysin against bacterial biothreat agents. Open Microbiol J 2009;3:92–6.
- Ericsson M, Kroca M, Johansson T, Sjöstedt A, Tärnvik A. Long-lasting recall response of CD4+ and CD8+ alphabeta T cells, but not gammadelta T cells, to heat shock proteins of Francisella tularensis. Scand J Infect Dis. 2001;33(2):145-52.
- Evans ME: Francisella tularensis. Infection control : IC 1985, 6(9):381-383.
- Teutsch SM, Martone WJ, Brink EW, Potter ME, Eliot G, Hoxsie R, et al. Pneumonic tularemia on Martha's Vineyard. N Engl J Med 1979;301:826–8.
- Fagarasan S, Watanabe N, Honjo T. Generation, expansion, migration and activation of mouse B1 cells. Immunol Rev (2000) 176:205–15.
- Feldman KA, Enscore RE, Lathrop SL, Matyas BT, McGuill M, Schriefer ME, et al. An outbreak of primary pneumonic tularemia on Martha's Vineyard. N Engl J Med 2001;345:1601–6.
- Fernandes-Alnemri T, Yu JW, Juliana C, Solorzano L, Kang S, Wu J, Datta P, McCormick M, Huang L, McDermott E, Eisenlohr L, Landel CP, Alnemri ES. The AIM2 inflammasome is critical for innate immunity to Francisella tularensis. Nat Immunol. 2010 May;11(5):385-93. doi: 10.1038/ni.1859
- Flick-Smith HC, Fox MA, Hamblin KA, Richards MI, Jenner DC, Laws TR, et al. Assessment of antimicrobial peptide LL-37 as a post-exposure therapy to protect against respiratory tularemia in mice. Peptides 2013;43:96–101.

Forestal, CA; Malik, M; Catlett, SV; Savitt, AG; Benach, JL; Sellati, TJ; et al. Francisella tularensis has a significant extracellular phase in infected mice.J Infect Dis, 2007; 196, 134–7.

Foshay L, Ruchman I, Nicholes PS. Antitularense serum: Correlation between protective capacity for white rats and precipitable antibody content. J Clin Invest 1947;26:756–60.

- Fox MA, Thwaite JE, Ulaeto DO, Atkins TP, Atkins HS. Design and characterization of novel hybrid antimicrobial peptides based on cecropin A, LL-37 and magainin II. Peptides 2012;33:197–205.
- Francis E., Tularemia, JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 1925, 84,1243–50.

Francis E. Symptoms, diagnosis and pathology of tularemia. JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association 1928;91:1155–61.

Francis E., Sources of infection and seasonal incidence of tularaemia in man, Public Health Rep., 1937, 52, 103–13.

Francis E, Felton L. Antitularemic serum. Pub Health Rep 1942;57:44–57.

- Gao J, Ma X, Gu W, Fu M, An J, Xing Y, et al. Novel functions of murine B1 cells: active phagocytic and microbicidal abilities. Eur J Immunol (2012) **42**:982–92. doi:10.1002/eji.201141519.
- Garraud O, Borhis G, Badr G, Degrelle S, Pozzetto B, Cognasse F, et al. Revisiting the Bcell compartment in mouse and humans: more than one B-cell subset exists in the marginal zone and beyond. BMC Immunol (2012) **13**:63. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-13-63

Geier H., Celli J., Phagocytic receptors dictate phagosomal escape and intracellular proliferation of Francisella tularensis, Infect Immun., 2011, 79, 2204–14

- Gil-Cruz C, Bobat S, Marshall JL, Kingsley RA, Ross EA, Henderson IR, et al. The porin OmpD from nontyphoidal Salmonella is a key target for a protective B1b cell antibody response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2009) 106:9803–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0812431106
- Golovliov I., Baranov V., Krocova Z., Kovarova H., Sjöstedt A., An attenuated strain of the facultative intracellular bacterium Francisella tularensis can escape the phagosome of monocytic cells, Infect Immun., 2003, 71, 5940–50.
- Gosselin EJ, Gosselin DR, Lotz SA. Natural killer and CD8 T cells dominate the response by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells to inactivated Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain. Hum Immunol 2005;66:1039–49.
- Gurycova D., First isolation of Francisella tularensis subsp. tularensis in Europe, Eur J Epidemiol., 1998, 14, 797–802.
- Gyuranecz M, Rigó K, Dán A, Földvári G, Makrai L, Dénes B, et al. Investigation of the ecology of Francisella tularensis during an inter-epizootic period. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis 2011;11:1031–5.
- Hardy RR. B-1 B cell development. J Immunol (2006) **177**:2749–54. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.5.2749
- Hardy RR. B-1 B cells: development, selection, natural autoantibody and leukemia. Curr Opin Immunol (2006) **18**:547–55. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2006.07.010
- Harris TA. Tularaemia among farmer-trappers in northwestern Saskatchewan. Can Med Assoc J 1956;74:60–1

- Havlasova J, Hernychova L, Halada P, Pellantova V, Krejsek J, Stulik J, et al. Mapping of immunoreactive antigens of Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain. Proteomics 2002;2:857–67.
- Havlasová, J; Hernychová, L; Brychta, M; Hubálek, M; Lenco, J; Larsson, P, et al. Proteomic analysis of anti-Francisella tularensis LVS antibody response in murine model of tularemia. Proteomics, 2005; 5, 2090–103.
- Hayakawa, K., Hardy, R. R., Herzenberg, L. A. and Herzenberg, L. A., Progenitors for Ly-1 B cells are distinct from progenitors for other B cells. J.Exp. Med. 1985.

Hollis DG., Weaver RE., Steigerwalt AG., Wenger JD., Moss CW., Brenner DJ., Francisella philomiragia comb. nov. (formerly Yersinia philomiragia) and Francisella tularensis biogroup novicida (formerly Francisella novicida) associated with human disease, J Clin Microbiol., 1989, 27, 1601–8.

- Hrstka R., Stulik J., Vojtesek B., The role of MAPK signal pathways during Francisella tularensis LVS infection-induced apoptosis in murine macrophages, Microbes Infect., 2005, 7, 619–25.
- Hrstka R., Krocova Z., Cerny J., Vojtesek B., Macela A., Stulik J., Francisella tularensis strain LVS resides in MHC II-positive autophagic vacuoles in macrophages, Folia Microbiol (Praha)., 2007, 52, 631–6.
- Hubalek Z, Sixl W, Halouzka J, Mikulasková M. Prevalence of Francisella tularensis in Dermacentor reticulatus ticks collected in adjacent areas of the Czech and Austrian Republics. Cent Eur J Public Health 1997;5:199–201
- Chakraborty S., Monfett M., Maier TM., Benach JL., Frank DW., Thanassi DG., Type IV pili in Francisella tularensis: roles of pilF and pilT in fiber assembly, host cell adherence, and virulence, Infect Immun., 2008, 76, 2852–61.
- Chaudhury S, Abdulhameed MDM, Singh N, Tawa GJ, D'haeseleer PM, Zemla AT, et al. Rapid countermeasure discovery against Francisella tularensis based on a metabolic network reconstruction. PLoS ONE 2013;8:e63369.
- Checroun C., Wehrly TD., Fischer ER., Hayes SF., Celli J., Autophagy-mediated reentry of Francisella tularensis into the endocytic compartment after cytoplasmic replication, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA., 2006, 103, 14578–83.
- Chong A., Wehrly TD., Nair V., Fischer ER., Barker JR., Klose KE., et al., The early phagosomal stage of Francisella tularensis determines optimal phagosomal escape and Francisella pathogenicity island protein expression, Infect Immun., 2008, 76, 5488–99.
- Janovská, S; Pávková, I; Hubálek, M; Lenco, J; Macela, A; Stulík, J. Identification of immunoreactive antigens in membrane proteins enriched fraction from Francisella tularensis LVS. Immunol Lett, 2007a; 108, 151–9.
- Janovská, S; Pávková, I; Reichelová, M; Hubáleka, M; Stulík, J; Macela, A. Proteomic analysis of antibody response in a case of laboratory-acquired infection with Francisella tularensis subsp. tularensis. Folia Microbiol (Praha), 2007b; 52, 194–8.
- Jones BD., Faron M., Rasmussen JA., Fletcher JR., Uncovering the components of the Francisella tularensis virulence stealth strategy, Front Cell Infect Microbiol., 2014, 4, 32.

- Karttunen R, Surcel HM, Andersson G, Ekre HP, Herva E. Francisella tularensis-induced in vitro gamma interferon, tumor necrosis factor alpha, and interleukin 2 responses appear within 2 weeks of tularemia vaccination in human beings. J Clin Microbiol. 1991 Apr;29(4):753-6.
- Khlebnikov, VS; Vetchinin, SS; Grechko, GK; Averina, AA; Golovlev, IR; Averin, SF; et al. [The preventive activity of monoclonal antibodies specific to the lipopolysaccharide of Francisella tularensis]. Zh Mikrobiol Epidemiol Immunobiol, 1992, 67–70.
- Kirimanjeswara, GS; Golden, JM; Bakshi, CS; Metzger, DW. Prophylactic and therapeutic use of antibodies for protection against respiratory infection with Francisella tularensis. J Immunol, 2007; 179, 532–9.
- Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wideranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer. 1972 Aug;26(4):239-57.
- Koskela P, Herva E. Cell-mediated immunity against Francisella tularensis after natural infection. Scand J Infect Dis 1980;12:281–7.
- Koskela, P; Salminen, A. Humoral immunity against Francisella tularensis after natural infection. J Clin Microbiol, 1985; 22, 973–9.
- Kroca M, Tärnvik A, Sjöstedt A. The proportion of circulating gammadelta T cells increases after the first week of onset of tularaemia and remains elevated for more than a year. Clin Exp Immunol 2000;120:280–4.
- Krocova, Z; Härtlova, A; Souckova, D; Zivna, L; Kroca, M; Rudolf, E; et al. Interaction of B cells with intracellular pathogen Francisella tularensis. Microb Pathog, 2008; 45, 79–85.
- Kubelkova, K; Krocova, Z; Balonova, L; Pejchal, J; Stulik, J; Macela, A. Specific antibodies protect gamma-irradiated mice against Francisella tularensis infection. Microb Pathog, 2012; 53, 259–68.
- Kugeler KJ., Mead PS., Janusz AM., Staples JE., Kubota KA., Chalcraft LG., et al., Molecular Epidemiology of Francisella tularensis in the United States, Clin Infect Dis., 2009, 48, 863–70.
- Kurtz SL, Foreman O, Bosio CM, Anver MR, Elkins KL. Interleukin-6 is essential for primary resistance to Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain infection. Infect Immun 2013;81:585–97.
- Kurtz SL, Chou AY, Kubelkova K, Cua DJ, Elkins KL. IL-23 p19 knockout mice exhibit normal immune responses to primary and secondary infection with F. tularensis LVS. PLoS One. 2014 Oct 8;9(10):e109898. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0109898. eCollection 2014
- Lai XH., Golovliov I., Sjöstedt A., Francisella tularensis induces cytopathogenicity and apoptosis in murine macrophages via a mechanism that requires intracellular bacterial multiplication, Infect Immun., 2001, 69, 4691–4.
- Laws TR, Clark G, D'Elia RV. Differential role for interleukin-6 during Francisella tularensis infection with virulent and vaccine strains. Infect Immun 2013;81:3055–6.
- Levesque B, De Serres G, Higgins R, D'Halewyn MA, Artsob H, Grondin J, et al. Seroepidemiologic study of three zoonoses (leptospirosis, Q fever, and tularemia) among trappers in Québec, Canada. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 1995;2:496–8.

- Levesque B, Messier V, Bonnier-Viger Y, Couillard M, Côté S, Ward BJ, et al. Seroprevalence of zoonoses in a Cree community (Canada). Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2007;59:283–6.
- Levin W., Tularemia, Bull Med Libr Assoc., 1940, 29, 17–22.
- Libich J. Tularemia. Prague: Avicenum; 1981.
- Lindgren H., Shen H., Zingmark C., Golovliov I., Conlan W., Sjöstedt A., Resistance of Francisella tularensis strains against reactive nitrogen and oxygen species with special reference to the role of KatG, Infect Immun., 2007, 75, 1303–9.
- Lopes-Carvalho T, Kearney JF. Development and selection of marginal zone B cells. Immunol Rev (2004) **197**:192–205. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.0112.x
- López MC, Duckett NS, Baron SD, Metzger DW. Early activation of NK cells after lung infection with the intracellular bacterium, Francisella tularensis LVS. Cell Immunol 2004;232:75–85.
- Lysy J, Nosek J, Vyrostekova V, Kovacik J. Isolation of Francisella tularensis from mites Haemogamasus nidi and Laelaps hilaris in western slovakia. Zentralbl Bakteriol Orig A 1979;244:324–6.
- Ma Z., Banik S., Rane H., Mora VT., Rabadi SM., Doyle CR., et al., EmrA1 Membrane Fusion Protein of Francisella tularensis LVS is required for Resistance to Oxidative Stress, Intramacrophage Survival and Virulence in Mice, Mol Microbiol., 2014, Doi: 10.1111/mmi.12509.
- Marshall JL, Flores-Langarica A, Kingsley RA, Hitchcock JR, Ross EA, Lopez-Macias C, et al. The capsular polysaccharide Vi from Salmonella typhi is a B1b antigen. J Immunol (2012) 189:5527–32. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103166
- Martin F, Kearney JF. B1 cells: similarities and differences with other B cell subsets. Curr Opin Immunol (2001) **13**:195–201. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(00)00204-1
- Maurin M. New anti-infective strategies for treatment of tularemia. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2014;4:115.
- McCoy GW., Plague-like disease of rodents, Bull Hyg Lab., US Pub Health Service, 1911.
- McCoy GW., Chapin C., Bacterium tularense, cause of a plague-like disease of rodents, Bull Hyg Lab., US Pub Health Service, 1912.
- McLendon MK., Apicella MA., Allen L-AH., Francisella tularensis: taxonomy, genetics, and Immunopathogenesis of a potential agent of biowarfare, Annu Rev Microbiol., 2006, 60, 167–85.
- Mohapatra NP., Soni S., Reilly TJ., Liu J., Klose KE., Gunn JS., Combined deletion of four Francisella novicida acid phosphatases attenuates virulence and macrophage vacuolar escape, Infect Immun., 2008, 76, 3690–9.
- Montecino-Rodriguez E, Dorshkind K. New perspectives in B-1 B cell development and function. Trends Immunol (2006) **27**:428–33. doi:10.1016/j.it.2006.07.005
- Montecino-Rodriguez E, Dorshkind K. B-1 B cell development in the fetus and adult. Immunity (2012) **36**:13–21. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.017
- Montes, CL; Acosta-Rodríguez, EV; Merino, MC; Bermejo, DA; Gruppi, A. Polyclonal B cell activation in infections: infectious agents' devilry or defense mechanism of the host? J Leukoc Biol, 2007; 82, 1027–32.

Mörner T. The ecology of tularaemia. Rev - Off Int Epizoot 1992;11:1123-30.

- Nano FE., Zhang N., Cowley SC., Klose KE., Cheung KKM., Roberts MJ., et al., A Francisella tularensis pathogenicity island required for intramacrophage growth., J Bacteriol., 2004, 186, 6430–6.
- O'Garra, A; Stapleton, G; Dhar, V; Pearce, M; Schumacher, J; Rugo, H; et al. Production of cytokines by mouse B cells: B lymphomas and normal B cells produce interleukin 10. Int Immunol, 1990; 2, 821–32.
- O'Garra, A; Howard, M. (1992). IL-10 production by CD5 B cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1992; 651, 182–99.
- O'Garra, A; Chang, R; Go, N; Hastings, R; Haughton, G; Howard, M. Ly-1 B (B-1) cells are the main source of B cell-derived interleukin 10. Eur J Immunol, 1992; 22, 711–7.
- Ohara H., Human inoculation experiment with a disease of wild rabbits, with a bacteriologic study, Kinsei Igaku, 1925, 12, 401.
- Ol'sufev NG., Meshcheriakova IS., Further study of intraspecific taxonomy of Francisella tularensis, Zh Mikrobiol Epidemiol Immunobiol., 1981, 16–21.
- Park HR, Jo SK, Eom HS. Chronic effects of single and fractionated gamma irradiation on an impairment of Th1-related immune response. Int J Radiat Biol 2011; 87:534-43.
- Parker RR, Steinhaus EA, Kohls GM, Jellison WL. Contamination of natural waters and mud with Pasteurella tularensis and tularenia in beavers and muskrats in the northwestern United States. Bull Natl Inst Health 1951;193:1–161.
- Parra D, Rieger AM, Li J, Zhang YA, Randall LM, Hunter CA, et al. Pivotal advance: peritoneal cavity B-1 B cells have phagocytic and microbicidal capacities and present phagocytosed antigen to CD4+ T cells. J Leukoc Biol (2012) **91**:525–36.

Parsa KV, Butchar JP, Rajaram MV, Cremer TJ, Tridandapani S. The tyrosine kinase Syk promotes phagocytosis of Francisella through the activation of Erk. Mol Immunol. 2008 May;45(10):3012-21.

Pearse RA., Insect bites, Northwest Medicine, 1911, 3, 81-2.

- Pechous RD., McCarthy TR., Zahrt TC., Working toward the future: insights into Francisella tularensis pathogenesis and vaccine development, Microbiol Mol Biol Rev., 2009, 73, 684–711.
- Petersen JM, Mead PS, Schriefer ME. Francisella tularensis: an arthropod-borne pathogen. Vet Res 2009;40:7.
- Pieper K, Grimbacher B, Eibel H. B-cell biology and development. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) **131**:959–71. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.01.046
- Pierini LM., Uptake of serum-opsonized Francisella tularensis by macrophages can be mediated by class A scavenger receptors, Cell Microbiol., 2006, 8, 1361–70.
- Popi AF, Zamboni DS, Mortara RA, Mariano M. Microbicidal property of B1 cell derived mononuclear phagocyte. Immunobiology (2009) 214:664–73. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2008.12.007.
- Poquet Y, Kroca M, Halary F, Stenmark S, Peyrat MA, Bonneville M, et al. Expansion of Vgamma9 Vdelta2 T cells is triggered by Francisella tularensis-derived

phosphoantigens in tularemia but not after tularemia vaccination. Infect Immun 1998;66:2107-14.

- Racine R, Winslow GM. IgM in microbial infections: taken for granted? Immunol Lett (2009) **125**:79–85. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2009.06.003
- Rajaram MVS., Butchar JP., Parsa KVL., Cremer TJ., Amer A., Schlesinger LS., et al., Akt and SHIP modulate Francisella escape from the phagosome and induction of the Fas-mediated death pathway, PLoS ONE, 2009, 4, e7919.
- Riedl SJ, Shi Y. 2004. Molecular mechanisms of caspase regulation during apoptosis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol **5**: 897–907.
- Roberts LM, Davies JS, Sempowski GD, Frelinger JA. IFN-γ, but not IL-17A, is required for survival during secondary pulmonary Francisella tularensis Live Vaccine Stain infection. Vaccine 2014;32:3595–603.

Rockwood SW., Tularemia: What's in a name?, ASM News, 1983, 49, 63–5.

Santic M., Molmeret M., Abu Kwaik Y., Modulation of biogenesis of the Francisella tularensis subsp. novicida-containing phagosome in quiescent human macrophages and its maturation into a phagolysosome upon activation by IFN-gamma, Cell Microbiol., 2005, 7, 957–67.

Santic M, Molmeret M, Klose KE, Abu Kwaik Y. Francisella tularensis travels a novel, twisted road within macrophages. Trends Microbiol. 2006 Jan;14(1):37-44. Epub 2005 Dec 13.

- Santic M., Asare R., Skrobonja I., Jones S., Abu Kwaik Y., Acquisition of the vacuolar ATPase proton pump and phagosome acidification are essential for escape of Francisella tularensis into the macrophage cytosol, Infect Immun., 2008, 76, 2671–7.
- Saslaw S, Eigelsbach HT, Wilson HE, Prior JA, Carhart S. Tularemia vaccine study. I. Intracutaneous challenge. Arch Intern Med 1961a;107:689–701.
- Saslaw S, Eigelsbach HT, Prior JA, Wilson HE, Carhart S. Tularemia vaccine study. II. Respiratory challenge. Arch Intern Med 1961b;107:702–14
- Savitt AG, Mena-Taboada P, Monsalve G, Benach JL. Francisella tularensis infectionderived monoclonal antibodies provide detection, protection, and therapy. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2009;16:414–22.

Shilova NV, Navakouski MJ, Huflejt M, Kuehn A, Grunow R, Blixt O, Bovin NV. Changes in the repertoire of natural antibodies caused by immunization with bacterial antigens. Biochemistry (Mosc). 2011 Jul;76(7):862-6.

- Shiozaki EN, Chai J, Shi Y. 2002. Oligomerization and activation of caspase-9, induced by Apaf-1 CARD. Proc Natl Acad Sci **99**: 4197–4202.
- Shiow LR, Rosen DB, Brdicková N, Xu Y, An J, Lanier LL, Cyster JG, Matloubian M. CD69 acts downstream of interferon-alpha/beta to inhibit S1P1 and lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. Nature. 2006 Mar 23;440(7083):540-4.
- Schulert GS., McCaffrey RL., Buchan BW., Lindemann SROV., Hollenback C., Jones BD., et al., Francisella tularensis genes required for inhibition of the neutrophil respiratory burst and intramacrophage growth identified by random transposon mutagenesis of strain LVS, Infect Immun., 2009, 77, 1324–36.

- Sjödin A., Svensson K., Ohrman C., Ahlinder J., Lindgren P., Duodu S., et al., Genome characterisation of the genus Francisella reveals insight into similar evolutionary paths in pathogens of mammals and fish, BMC Genomics, 2012, 13, 268.
- Skyberg JA, Rollins MF, Samuel JW, Sutherland MD, Belisle JT, Pascual DW. Interleukin-17 protects against the Francisella tularensis live vaccine strain but not against a virulent F. tularensis type A strain. Infect Immun 2013;81:3099–105.
- Souwer, Y; Griekspoor, A; Jorritsma, T; De Wit, J; Janssen, H; Neefjes, J; et al. B cell receptor-mediated internalization of salmonella: a novel pathway for autonomous B cell activation and antibody production. J Immunol, 2009; 182, 7473–81.
- Stenmark, S; Lindgren, H; Tärnvik, A; Sjöstedt, A. Specific antibodies contribute to the host protection against strains of Francisella tularensis subspecies holarctica. Microb Pathog, 2003; 35, 73–80.
- Staples JE., Kubota KA., Chalcraft LG., Mead PS., Petersen JM., Epidemiologic and molecular analysis of human tularemia, United States, 1964-2004, Emerging Infect Dis., 2006, 12, 1113–8.
- Suda, T; O'Garra, A; MacNeil, I; Fischer, M; Bond, MW; Zlotnik, A. Identification of a novel thymocyte growth-promoting factor derived from B cell lymphomas. Cell Immunol, 1990; 129, 228–40.
- Sundaresh S, Randall A, Unal B, Petersen JM, Belisle JT, Hartley MG, et al. From protein microarrays to diagnostic antigen discovery: a study of the pathogen Francisella tularensis. Bioinformatics 2007;23:i508–518.
- Surcel HM, Syrjälä H, Karttunen R, Tapaninaho S, Herva E. Development of Francisella tularensis antigen responses measured as T-lymphocyte proliferation and cytokine production (tumor necrosis factor alpha, gamma interferon, and interleukin-2 and -4) during human tularemia. Infect Immun. 1991 Jun;59(6):1948-53.
- Suvarov S., Volfertz V., Voronkova MM., Plague like lymphadenitis of the Astrakhansky region, Vestnik Mikrobiol Epidemiol Parazitol., 1928, 7, 293.
- Tärnvik A., Berglund L., Tularaemia, Eur Respir J., 2003, 21, 361–73.
- Tärnvik A., Nature of protective immunity to Francisella tularensis, Rev Infect Dis., 1989, 11, 440–51.
- Tärnvik A, Priebe H-S, Grunow R. Tularaemia in Europe: an epidemiological overview. Scand J Infect Dis 2004;36:350–5.
- Tigertt WD. Soviet viable Pasteurella tularensis vaccines. A review of selected articles. Bacteriol Rev 1962;26:354–73.
- Titball RW, Sjostedt A, Pavelka MS Jr, Nano FE. Biosafety and selectable markers. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007;1105:405–17.
- Trevisanato SI., Did an epidemic of tularemia in Ancient Egypt affect the course of world history?, Med Hypotheses, 2004, 63, 905–10.
- Trevisanato SI., The biblical plague of the Philistines now has a name, tularemia, Med Hypotheses, 2007, 69, 1144–6.
- Tung JW, Parks DR, Moore WA, Herzenberg LA. Identification of B-cell subsets: an exposition of 11-color (Hi-D) FACS methods. Methods Mol Biol (2004) 271:37–58. doi:10.1385/1-59259-796-3:037.

- Vaughan AT, Roghanian A, Cragg MS. B cells masters of the immunoverse. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2011) 43:280–5. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2010.12.005.
- Vonkavaara M, Pavel STI, Hölzl K, Nordfelth R, Sjöstedt A, Stöven S. Francisella is sensitive to insect antimicrobial peptides. J Innate Immun 2013;5:50–9.
- Weill JC, Weller S, Reynaud CA. Human marginal zone B cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) **27**:267–85. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132607
- Wells SM, Kantor AB, Stall AM. CD43 (S7) expression identifies peripheral B cell subsets. J Immunol (1994) 153:5503–15.
- Won WJ, Kearney JF. CD9 is a unique marker for marginal zone B cells, B1 cells, and plasma cells in mice. J Immunol (2002) 168:5605–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.11.5605.
- Woo M, Hakem R, Furlonger C, Hakem A, Duncan GS, Sasaki T, Bouchard D, LuL, Wu GE, Paige CJ, et al. 2003. Caspase-3 regulates cell cycle in B cells: A consequence of substrate specificity. Nat Immunol 4: 1016–1022.
- Yanaba K, Bouaziz JD, Haas KM, Poe JC, Fujimoto M, Tedder TF. A regulatory B cell subset with a unique CD1dhiCD5+ phenotype controls T cell-dependent inflammatory responses. Immunity (2008) 28:639–50. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.03.017
- Zarkai GI., Tularemia among water rats; methods of studying them, Bull Hyg., 1930, 5, 875.

8 LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOL

⁶⁰ Co	cobalt 60
μg/μL	microgram/microliter
α	alpha
β	beta
γ	gamma
Ab	antibody
AIF	apoptosis-inducing factor
AIM	absent in melanoma
BCR	B-cell receptor
CD	cluster of designation
CFU	colony forming unit
CO_2	carbon dioxide
ddH ₂ O	deionized water
EEA	early-endosome antigen
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
F. tularensis	Francisella tularensis
FACS	fluorescence-activated cell staining
FCP	Francisella-containing phagosome
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
Gy	Grey
HRP	horse raddish peroxidase
Ig	immunoglobulin
IL	interleukin
IMS	immune mouse serum
LPS	lipopolysaccharide

LVS	live vaccine strain
MyD	myeloid differentiation factor
MZ	marginal zone
NLR	nod-like receptor
NK cell	natural killer cell
NMS	normal mouse serum
OD	optical density
subsp.	subspecies
Th cell	T helper cell
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TNFR	tumor necrosis factor receptor
USA	United States of America
UV	ultraviolet

9 OUTPUTS

Paper I.

Paper II.

Paper III.

OTHER PUBLICATIONS AND OUTPUTS

Papers related to the thesis

Plzakova L, Krocova Z, <u>Kubelkova K[#]</u>, Macela A: Entry of *Francisella tularensis* into murine B cells: The role of BCRs and CRs. PLOS One, **2015**, Under revision (#correspondidng author).

Kurtz SL, Chou AY, <u>Kubelkova K</u>, Cua DJ, Elkins KL: IL-23 p19 knockout mice exhibit minimal defects in responses to primary and secondary infection with *Francisella tularensis* LVS. PLOS One, **2014** (9), 10, e109898.

<u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Krocova Z., Plzakova L., Macela A.: The Role of B Cells in Intracellular Bacterial Pathogen Infections; B Cells: Molecular Biology, Developmental Origin and Impact on the Immune System, **2013**, ISBN: 978-1-62808-541-9, 1-44.

Macela A., Stulik J., Krocova Z., Kroca M., <u>Kubelkova K[#]</u>: *Francisella tularensis* - 100 years: tularemia research in former Czechoslovakia and in the Czech Republic. Mil Med Sci Lett, **2012**, 2, 46-55 (#correspondidng author).

<u>Kubelkova K</u>., Krocova Z., Macela A.: Host Response to Radiation and Passive Transfer of Immunity Against *Francisella Tularensis* (Abstract). Journal of Vaccine and Vaccination. **2011**, 2 (4), 145, doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2157-7560.S1.11.

<u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Macela A.: A novel introducing model of tularemic monoclonal antibody preparation. Central Europian Journal of Biology. **2010**, 5(3), 310–317.

<u>Kubelkova K</u>., Macela A.: New potentialities of passive immunoprophylaxis of bacterial intracellular infections. Vojenské zdravotnické listy. **2008**, 2, 58-65.

Other publications

Kmochova A., Pejchal J., Tichy A., Zarybnicka L., Sinkorova Z., Rehacek V., Durisova K., <u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Kuca K., Vavrova J.: Modulation of ionizing radiation-induced effects by NU7441, KU55933 and VE821 in peripheral blood lymphocytes. Int. J. Mol. Sci. **2015**, 16, 1-x manuscripts; doi:10.3390/ijms160x000x.

Babicová A., Pejchal J., Havlínová Z., Řezáčová M., <u>Kubelková K</u>., Chládek J., Tichý A., Vávrová J., Zárybnická L., Novotná E., Kuča K., Šinkorová Z.: Effect of acetyl-L-carnitine (ALC) pretreatment on radiation pneumonitis and L arginine-NO metabolic pathway. In preparation, Mil. Med. Sci. Lett., **2012**, 81, 119 – 128.

Pejchal J., Osterreicher J., Kassa J., Tichy A., Sinkorova Z., Zarybnicka L., <u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Kuca K. : Effect of soman on mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways. Military Mil Med Sci Lett, **2012**, 81, 2, 68-75.

Pejchal J., Osterreicher J., Kassa J., Tichy A., Sinkorova Z., Zarybnicka L., <u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Kuca K.: Soman and VX: different effect on cellular signalling. J Appl Biomed, **2012**, 10, doi: 10.2478/v10136-011-0018-z.

Pejchal J., Vasilieva V., Hristozova M., Vilasova Z., Vavrova J., Alyakov M., Tichy A., Zarybnicka L., Sinkorova Z., Tambor V., <u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Dresler J.: Cytokinesis-block micronucleus (CBMN) assay/CBMN cytome assay in human lymphocytes after in vitro irradiation and its use in biodosimetry. Mil Med Sci Lett, **2011**, 80, 28-37.

Oral presentations (abroad)

<u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Orlikova A., Krocova Z., Pejchal J., Macela A.: The cellular basis of protective immunity against experimental infection caused by *Francisella tularensis*. 2nd International Congress on Bacteriology and Infectious Disease, November 17-19, **2014**, Chicago, USA.

Krocova Z., <u>Kubelkova K</u>., Plzakova L., Zarybnicka L., Sinkorova Z., Macela A.: B cells participate on the early stages of immune response against intracellular bacterial pathogen Francisella tularensis. 15th Intenational Congress on Immunology, August 22 – 27, **2013**, Milan, Italy.

<u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Pejchal J., Krocova Z., Macela A., Bostik P.: Whole-body irradiated Balb/c mice can be protected against experimental Francisella tularensis infection by passive transfer of immunity. European Radiation Research **2012**, October 15-19, Vietri sul Mare, Italy.

Macela A., Stulik J., Krocova Z, Kroca M., <u>Kubelkova K</u>.: Czech tularemia research – the inheritor of the Czechoslovak knowledge., Medical Biodefence Conference 2011, October 24 -28, **2011**, Munich, Germany.

Krocova Z., Macela A., <u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Zivna L.: The role of B cells in early stage primary and secondary immune response to intracellular patogen Francisella tularensis. Frontiers in Immunology Research International Conference, June 30 – July 5, **2011**, Split, Croatia.

<u>Kubelkova K</u>.: The role of IL12/IL23 during Francisella tularensis infection., Annual Meeting of LMDCI lab (FDA, CBER), May 12, **2010**, Bethesda MD, USA.

Macela A., <u>Kubelkova K.</u>: The Role of Antibodies in the Resolution of Intracellular Bacterial Infection Caused by Gram-negative Bacterium *Francisella tularensis*. BIT Life Sciences'1st Annual International Congress of Antibodies, May 22-24, **2009**, Beijing, China.

<u>Kubelkova</u>, Krocova, Macela, Stulik: Murine sera can protect mice against tularemic infection. Discussion Forum 2009 – Host Pathogen Interaction. April 28–May 1, **2009**, Velke Karlovice, Czech Republic.

Krocova Z., <u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Macela A., Stulik J.: Interaction of *Francisella tularensis* LVS with host. RECOOP HST Bridges in the Life, April 4, **2009**, Debrecen, Hungary.

<u>Kubelkova K</u>., Hernychova L., Macela A.: The specificity and the role of circulating antibodies produced in the course of *Francisella tularensis* infection in mice. REECOOP HST Consortium: 2nd Bridges in Life Sciences Annual Scientific Review, October 3–6, **2008**, Zagreb, Croatia.

Macela A., Krocova Z., <u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Fiserova A: Immunity to tularaemia: Interplay of Humoral and Cell-mediated Immune Mechanism. 3rd National Congress of Immunology, May 8-11, **2008**, Varna, Bulgaria.

Macela A., <u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Hernychova L.: The role of antibodies in *Francisella tularensis* infection. COST ACTION B28 "Array technologies for BSL3 and BSL4 pathogens", September 10 - 12, **2008**, Bucharest, Romania.

Poster presentation

<u>Kubelkova K</u>., Orlikova A., Krocova Z., Macela A., Pejchal J., Bostik P.: Humoral immunity involving antibodies and B cells as an outstandidng helper during experimental Francisella tularensis infection, IMPULSE EFIS-EJI Symposium, August 31 – September 4, **2013**, Mátraháza, Hungary.

Krocova Z., <u>Kubelkova K</u>., Plzakova L., Macela A.: B cell response to *Francisella tularensis* infection – *in vitro* and *in vivo* model. 7th International Conference on Tularemia, September 15-22, **2012**, Breckenridge, Colorado, USA.

Kurtz S., Chou A., <u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Foreman O., Anver M., Bosio K., Elkins K.: The role of IL-6 and IL-23 in imunity to *Francisella tularensis* LVS infection. 7th International Conference on Tularemia, September 15-22, **2012**, Breckenridge, Colorado, USA.

Krocova Z., Macela A., <u>Kubelkova K</u>., Plzakova L.: Cellular basis of immune response against experimental Francisella tularensis strain LVS infection of mice. Frontiers in Immunology Research Network, July 1-4, **2012**, Salzburg, Austria.

<u>Kubelkova K</u>., Krocova Z., Macela A, Bostik P.: Passive transfer of sera can elicit the protective imunity against experimental *Francisella tularensis* infection. EMBO - New Perspectives on Imunity to Infection, May 18-22, **2012**, Heidelberg, Germany.

<u>Kubelkova K.</u>, Krocova Z., Macela A.: Host Response to Radiation and Passive Transfer of Immunity Against *Francisella Tularensis*. International conference and exhibition on Vaccine and Vaccination, November 22-24, **2011**, Philadephia, USA.

<u>Kubelkova K</u>., Macela A: Irradiated Mice and Passive Transfer of Immunity against Francisella tularensis. ESF-JSPS Frontier Science Conference for Young Researchers, Cutting Edge immunology and its clinical application, May 1 - 6, **2011**, Hulshorst, Netherlands.

<u>Kubelkova K</u>., Krocova Z., Macela A.: Passive transfer of immunity protects against experimental Francisella tularensis infection. Medical Biodefence Conference, October 20 - 23, **2009**, Munich, Germany.

<u>Kubelkova K</u>., Macela A., Stulik J., Balu S., Ivanyi J.: The generation of Francisela tularensis monoclonal antibodies constructed using single chain variable fragments (scFv) isolated from a phage library. PEGS Europe 2009 – Protein Engineering Summit, October 6 – 8, **2009**, Hannover, Germany.

<u>Kubelkova K</u>., Macela A., Stulik J., Balu S., Ivanyi J.: Advanced phage display – perspective approach for preparing of Francisella tularensis monoclonal antibodies., 6th International Conference on Tularenia, September 13–16, **2009**, Berlin, Germany.